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TRADE, FOREIGN POLICY AND THE 
AMERICAN WORKER 

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 28, 2007

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON TERRORISM, NONPROLIFERATION,

AND TRADE,
COMMITTEE ON FOREIGN AFFAIRS, 

Washington, DC. 
The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:05 a.m. in Room 

2176, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Brad J. Sherman 
(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding. 

Mr. SHERMAN. I am pleased to announce Mr. David Scott as vice 
chair of this subcommittee. And this appointment comes at an ex-
cellent time because I may be called away for votes at a Judiciary 
Committee markup, and so you may be chairing this committee for 
brief interludes. 

Mr. SCOTT. I just want to say if I may speak a little out of turn 
here, thank you so very much for those wonderful words. I look for-
ward to serving as your vice chair, and I want to thank both you 
and Chairman Tom Lantos for having that kind of confidence in 
me. Thank you very much. 

Mr. SHERMAN. Thank you. The rules of the House vest in the 
Foreign Affairs Committee jurisdiction over measures to foster 
commercial intercourse with foreign nations and generally with 
international economic policy. Again, I want to commend Chairman 
Lantos for entrusting this subcommittee with that jurisdiction. 

This is an opportune time to hold these hearings because at the 
end of this week the President basically loses his fast track author-
ity. Congress must decide whether to restore that extraordinary 
power with or without new conditions. 

Given the importance of this hearing, I see that we have been 
joined by two fine Members of Congress who are not members of 
the Foreign Affairs Committee, and they will be recognized for 
questions after we hear from the witnesses and after we hear from 
the questions of those who are members of the committee. With 
that, my distinguished ranking member, Mr. Royce from California, 
and myself will both give opening statements of 5 minutes. I will 
invite other members of the subcommittee to give brief opening 
statements, hopefully for about 2 minutes, and then we will have 
additional opening statements at the beginning of the second panel 
but our first two witnesses here have limited time so we will have 
limitations on opening statements. Without objection written open-
ing statements will be made part of the record of this hearing. 
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We boomers grew up in the 1950s and 1960s expecting middle 
class living standards to get better every year yet as the first chart 
shows—if we can see it up there on the board—the last generation 
has seen only slight increases in income for middle class and work-
ing class families, and that increase in income has been accom-
panied by a massive increase in financial insecurity. 

Economists tell us that as a country we are richer but that is 
only because they average in the extraordinary gains of the top 5 
percent. A major element in the squeeze on the middle class, the 
insecurity of the middle class, what Mr. Dobbs calls the war on the 
middle class, is our trade deficit. As recently as the late 1980s our 
deficit looked trifling. It was reduced in part by Ronald Reagan de-
manding that Japanese auto companies have a substantial amount 
of U.S. value-added in the automobiles that they sold here. 

Since then, we have moved in another direction. We have had 
NAFTA and MFN for China, and our trade deficit has exploded as 
shown in the chart behind me. We signed NAFTA at a time when 
we had a slight trade deficit with our immediate neighbors, and 
now that deficit has grown in just a bit over a decade. It has grown 
not by 10 percent or 20 percent or 100 percent but rather that def-
icit has grown by 1,000 percent. 

Apologists for failure put forward some interesting excuses. The 
first is that it is the fault of the wages of American workers. That 
our workers are paid well. Yet our high wage friends in Europe and 
Canada do just fine when it comes to exporting. In the chart that 
should now be on the screens on each side of the room, we see that 
Europe and Canada export a very large percentage and an increas-
ing percentage of their GDP. The next chart will illustrate how the 
European Union is able to export substantially more of its GDP 
than we do, increasing over the last decade the share of its GDP 
that it exports by roughly a third. 

Our trade policies of opening up our market wide have been ac-
companied by no increase in our imports as a percentage of our 
GDP. While others increase the percentage of their GDP that they 
export, we do not. We are told that the fault is that America is a 
great place to invest, and so we have to deal with trade deficits 
that result, yet China, we are told, is a great place to invest and 
China has huge trade surpluses. 

We are told that the trade deficit is not the fault of our trade 
policies but an outgrowth of the U.S. budget deficit. But we had 
substantial declines of our budget deficits. As a matter of fact we 
had budget surpluses in the late 1990s and massive increases, as 
shown in the chart, at the same time in our trade deficit. 

We are told that trade policy reduces poverty. Visit the 
Maquiladoras. We are told that nations with whom we have had 
strong trade relationships will support our broad foreign policy ob-
jectives, visit the U.N. and watch China when it comes to Sudan 
and Iran. We are told that we now have the largest trade deficit 
in history, and the solution is more of the same. But the definition 
of insanity is to keep doing what you have been doing and expect 
a different result. 

And we are told that a President who has strained his powers 
to the most extreme interpretations should be given even more ex-
traordinary authority. I think we need to think again. I think we 
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need to learn from the wisdom of Ronald and Nancy Reagan. Ron-
ald Reagan who bargained tough on automobile parts and value-
added and Nancy Reagan who must have been thinking of fast 
track when she announced just say no. With that, let me yield to 
the gentleman from California, the distinguished ranking member. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Sherman follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE BRAD SHERMAN, A REPRESENTATIVE IN 
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AND CHAIRMAN, SUBCOMMITTEE ON 
TERRORISM, NONPROLIFERATION, AND TRADE 

THE END OF BALANCED TRADE 

For the first three decades after the Second World War, the United States domi-
nated multiple export markets. Several factors provided us with a robust competi-
tive advantage, including: a strong industrial base and dramatic advances in tech-
nology and manufacturing techniques.1 

During the Nixon administration, the U.S. dramatically changed its trade policy 
with the implementation of Fast Track. Before this, we had a rising standard of liv-
ing and balanced trade.2 It is under the trade promotion authority given by Fast 
Track that the United States has entered into the largest trade imbalance in our 
history, and last year the federal trade deficit for goods and services hit $764 billion. 

DEFICITS OF THE LATE 70S AND EARLY 80S 

The comparatively small trade deficits of the late 1970s grew dramatically in the 
early 80s, reaching a then-mammoth $145 billion. 

Paul Craig Roberts, former Assistant Secretary of the Treasury for Economic Pol-
icy during the Reagan administration, credited this deficit mainly to the energy cri-
sis and the need to import larger quantities of foreign oil.3 

Interestingly, the Reagan administration also penalized the anti-competitive tariff 
rates of our trade competitors, most notably the Japanese, by raising barriers to 
entry. The Japanese response was clear: direct investment in the U.S. manufac-
turing sector in the hopes of gaining access to the American market.4 

NAFTA 

With the end of the Cold War, the world changed, and our trade policy went in 
a dramatic new direction. 

The 1998 Fast Track re-authorization gave the administration of President George 
Herbert Walker Bush the authority to negotiate NAFTA. 

Supporters of the NAFTA model castigated their critics as being anti-trade and 
overly protectionist, while defending the plan in part on a strong belief that as the 
United States opened its markets other countries would follow our lead. 

More than a decade later, despite the best of intentions by both sides of the issue, 
we no longer need wonder about the impact of the NAFTA trade model. The num-
bers are in. 

Paralleling the impact of Fast Track, the U.S. has posted a trade deficit with Can-
ada and Mexico every year since the enactment of NAFTA. In 2006, our trade deficit 
with other NAFTA signatories reached $137 billion.5 

Rising deficits are not the entire story. During what I call the ‘‘NAFTA Era’’ the 
United States lost approximately 3 million manufacturing jobs. By the end of 2006, 
the United States had only 14 million manufacturing jobs left.6 

CHINA 

In the footsteps of NAFTA came the permanent normal trade relations with Com-
munist China. 
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The results go far beyond a $230 billion trade deficit, the offshoring of jobs, manu-
facturing facilities, and entire industries.7 

Today, there is a clear arrangement between the United States and China. China 
helps finance our trade deficit by buying up our Treasury bonds. And, in 2006, Chi-
na’s dollar reserves exceeded $1 trillion.8 

China further pegs its currency to the dollar to artificially lower the value of the 
Yuan, giving them an unfair advantage in exporting even more goods to the United 
States, while Americans continue to spend themselves into greater foreign held 
debt, as they buy up products produced with cheap overseas labor. 

Since 1999, we have borrowed more than $3 trillion to pay for these imported 
goods.9 

In the words of the Nobel Prize winning economist, Joseph Stiglitz, ‘‘These imbal-
ances simply can’t go on forever.’’ 10 

EXPORTS 

The U.S. trade deficit is now 6 times what it was just 20 years ago. In 2006, our 
imports were equal to the entire GDP of Russia and India combined.11 

The problem becomes even more apparent when we focus on U.S. exports, particu-
larly when compared to other developed nations. 

As a percentage of GDP, Germany, Canada, France, and the UK are all exporting 
at a rate that crushes the United States. 

Germany’s exports are five times those of the U.S. as a percentage of its economy. 
Canada, France, and the UK all export triple what we do, as a percentage of 

GDP.12 
When we compare the United States to the European Union, the same trend 

emerges. 
The European Union is finding new markets for its products, while, on the whole 

the United States is not.13 
In the words of one Washington Times editorial—not the strictest critic of our cur-

rent administration mind you—the United States, ‘‘has the export profile of a 19th 
century Third World economy.’’ 14 

‘‘No other country has the depth and breadth of our capital markets, political sta-
bility, rule of law protecting contracts and property rights, strong currency, and ac-
cumulation of scientific and technological knowledge that makes the U.S. the high 
tech leader.15 ’’

However, our chief exports are not value-added high tech goods. They are scrap 
metal, waste paper, cigarettes, rice, cotton, coal, meat, wheat, gold, soybeans, and 
corn.16 

The critical assumption of our current trade policy is that significant new markets 
are being opened up to U.S. goods and services. This is not the case. 

Europe, Japan, and China all maintain stronger protectionist policies than the 
United States.17 

Economic theory does not change this stark reality. 

OTHER FREE TRADE AGREEMENTS 

Rather than aggressively pursuing greater market access with our principal trad-
ing partners, the Bush administration has negotiated a series of small Free Trade 
Agreements with relatively minor economies. 
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We have entered into agreements with Jordan, Singapore, Chile, Australia, Mo-
rocco, Bahrain, Guatemala, El Salvador, and Honduras.18 

None of these countries are among our top 10 export markets.19 
In fact, the combined GDP of the four CAFTA countries that have already enacted 

the agreement is less than that of the town of Greenwich, Connecticut. 

SEPTEMBER 11TH AND THE WAR ON TERRORISM 

Following the terrorist attacks on September 11th, we were all told that the world 
had changed. 

Then U.S. Trade Representative Zoellick publicly backed the use of American 
trade policy as a vital tool in War on Terrorism.20 

The change that many of us hoped to see never materialized. 
Rather than following the example of the Treasury Department, which did de-

velop new tools that have made a substantial difference in efforts to economically 
cripple terrorist organizations, the USTR used the War on Terrorism to justify busi-
ness as usual. 

The world may have changed after September 11th, but the USTR did not change 
with it. 

Instead, the Nixon Era trade model was treated as a sacred cow. 
We are so afraid of disrupting this model and our precious trading relationships 

that our State Department has failed to sanction a single firm for violating the Iran 
Sanctions Act (formerly ‘‘ILSA’’), despite billions of dollars in Western investment 
flowing into Iran. For ten years we have sacrificed our vital national interest, stop-
ping Iran’s drive for nuclear weapons and its support for terrorism, to the alter of 
so-called free trade. 

Instead, when I open the papers, this is what I find:

This is what Tom Donohue, President of the Chamber of Commerce, had to 
say about Chairman Lantos’ leadership on strengthening sanctions against 
state sponsors of terror:

‘‘The sanctions effort is misguided. We should let natural market forces 
work while sending strong signals about the issue of nuclear weapons.’’ 21 

It appears that we are living under the delusion that market forces alone will 
some how stop radical governments or terrorist groups from carrying out murder 
on an unthinkable scale. This is a delusion we can no longer ignore. 

Despite honorable intentions, the current fast track model has failed on several 
fronts. It has failed to raise the standard of living for America’s middle class; it has 
failed to gain the necessary market access for our exports; and it has failed to adapt 
itself to the new security priorities of the 21st Century. 

Congress can no longer afford to abdicate its Constitutional obligation to conduct 
meaningful oversight and direction of our foreign trade policy, and it is my hope 
that members of this committee and the other members of Congress take these re-
alities seriously and demand a radical new direction in trade policy.

Mr. ROYCE. I thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. We have dis-
tinguished witnesses here today. On our first panel Ambassador 
Carla Hills who has served our country well opening up markets 
for our producers, and Mr. Dobbs does powerful reporting, and I 
want to commend in particular his documentation of our failed im-
migration system, and the danger of guest worker proposals. 

There is in my mind a big difference between the free flow of 
goods and the illegal flow of labor of people across our borders, and 
one of the issues that I know the open borders lobby does not agree 
on but one of the issues that is the consequences of that very real 
difference, and this next week well we have just had the introduc-
tion of legislation that will basically expand radically through an 
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amnesty this principal that the open borders lobby believes that, 
not just the free flow of goods but also the free flow of people. 

As Mr. Dobbs has documented, our borders are out of control, 
and proposed amnesty plans will dramatically worsen the situa-
tion, and I also agree with him that U.S. corporate interests are 
not always synonymous with the interests of American workers or 
with the interests of U.S. national security. So I look forward to 
hearing from our witnesses, but I hope that Mr. Dobbs will com-
ment today also on this issue that I have raised because I think 
this bill with this amnesty proposal and massive guest worker ex-
pansion will have the consequences now that we have seen that 1 
billion people in the world, according to polling, want to come to 
the United States. One billion people want to come here. 

Primarily the illegal immigration flows we are seeing are people 
that are without the skills that would really reward them with a 
higher income. It is unskilled labor. So the families that are coming 
that do not have the job skills and are drawing government serv-
ices will end up those households on average costing $30,000 a 
year. It seems to me that the income that I have seen to the gov-
ernment in the studies that I have looked at is $9,000 a year. 

We have a national debt in the United States that is sizable. We 
have a problem with Social Security. We have a problem with 
Medicare in terms of the funding, and so now we are looking at a 
policy that treats as though its trade policy the open migration of 
people who have been coming illegally and through this amnesty, 
and subsequently they will be rewarded for breaking the law. So 
I hope that issue is addressed. 

On the issue of market access in California, my home State, 
nearly 60,000 companies export goods, and California is particu-
larly heavy in agriculture. So we have got 1 million American farm 
jobs that are tied now to exports. We have to get this right. We 
have got to ensure better access overseas to our products getting 
into those markets. The deficit that I mentioned I think is a real 
concern because as I mentioned we are now $9 trillion in debt as 
a country, and we will hear today how the Federal deficit hurts our 
trading position and the economy, and subsidies are a part of grow-
ing that deficit. 

When you look at things like agricultural subsidies in the United 
States, there are over $20 billion in agricultural subsidies every 
year, most of which go to corporations. These subsidies are a road-
block to opening foreign markets. So again I look forward to hear-
ing from our witnesses. So I will yield the balance of my time right 
now but I again thank them very much for appearing here today. 

Mr. SHERMAN. Let me now recognize the distinguished vice chair 
of this subcommittee, the gentleman from Georgia. 

Mr. SCOTT. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and I too want 
to extend our appreciation to both of our distinguished panelists, 
both Mr. Dobbs and Ambassador Hills, and I might mention, Mr. 
Lou Dobbs, you are a fine alumni from Harvard University, and it 
is a great school. I quickly want to say, however, that I am a grad-
uate of the Wharton School, and of course, as you know, Harvard 
and Wharton have great competition, but I think you will agree 
that of course Wharton is the finest business school. 
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But with that, I come with an understanding and I understand 
the view of many economists and trade policy experts who feel that 
labor is a commodity to be traded like any other but those who 
view labor only in the abstract sense fail to comprehend the very 
real, very human face of our nation’s offshore sourcing problem, 
and you have done a commendable job to show the great tragedy 
of the outsourcing of jobs and the impact that that has on the mid-
dle class and the numerous specials that you have done on CNN, 
and I want to congratulate you for that. 

And especially the negative aspect of the loss of jobs, and such 
American industries and name brands like Levis now who have 
closed the last Levi plant. We depend so much now on the clothes 
we wear, the automobiles we buy, all of those products even right 
down to the dollar stores based upon a very warped trade policy 
that has yielded a very, very negative result as it applies to our 
own economy. 

Industry after industry has fled our country to other countries, 
and namely because of their lax wage and labor standards, and 
what a cruel blow this is especially to our labor unions and the 
labor movement who historically have provided the very anchor, 
the very reason why America has the highest quality of life, has 
been because of the advances spurred in our economy by the labor 
movement itself, and we work hard to protect that. 

The other area that concerns me and one of which you touched 
as well is on the foreign debt. If you look through history and you 
look at the fall of many great nations and civilizations, there are 
certain characteristics that jump out at you. One is dwindling re-
sources at home, which we are having with our oil and petroleum 
and the dependence of that. A failure to protect our borders, which 
is happening. And most egregiously ballooning debt, and our debt 
is so magnified even greater because of the extraordinary amount 
of debt in the hands of foreign governments and foreign nations. 

The great tragedy is that in these last 5 years this nation and 
not just the President, we in Congress have acquiesced, we have 
borrowed more money from foreign governments and foreign na-
tions in the last 5 years than all of the preceding administrations 
have done since 1789. That is a tragedy of soaring magnitude 
which must be addressed, and just the interest we are paying on 
that is the fastest growing part of our budget, and the other trav-
esty is that the borrowing is coming from those nations that not 
too long ago were our enemies and could very well be our enemies 
again, China and then some of the unstable areas of the OPEC re-
gions. 

This is an important hearing, and we have some very important 
issues to examine in terms of our debt, in terms of our trade poli-
cies. I thank the chairman for pulling this together. I look forward 
to each of your testimonies, and thank you very much. 

Mr. SHERMAN. The gentleman from Illinois, Mr. Manzullo. 
Mr. MANZULLO. I came to hear the witnesses. I would like my 

statement to be part of the record. Thank you. 
Mr. SHERMAN. Without objection. And the gentleman from Colo-

rado. 
Mr. TANCREDO. No statement. 
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Mr. SHERMAN. Thank you. Our first witness is Mr. Lou Dobbs. 
He is Managing Editor and Anchor of CNN’s Lou Dobbs Tonight, 
and has won nearly every major award for television journalism. In 
2005, the National Academy of Television, Arts and Sciences 
awarded Mr. Dobbs the Emmy for lifetime achievement. The prior 
year, the Academy presented him with an Emmy for his series Ex-
porting America. 

He is the author of the best-selling books, War on the Middle 
Class and Exporting America. He is a graduate of Harvard Univer-
sity, as Mr. Scott pointed out, with a degree in economics. Mr. 
Dobbs. 

STATEMENT OF MR. LOU DOBBS, ANCHOR AND MANAGING 
EDITOR, CNN’S ‘‘LOU DOBBS TONIGHT’’

Mr. DOBBS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. Can you hear 
me? 

Mr. SHERMAN. Yes. 
Mr. DOBBS. It is an old habit checking the technology. I am abso-

lutely delighted at your invitation. I thank you very much. I thank 
you all for the kind words. Ambassador Hills, it is great to see you 
again, and I have great respect for you, and I am delighted to be 
sitting here with you. 

The United States has sustained 31 consecutive years of trade 
deficits. Those deficits have reached successively higher records in 
each of the past 5 years. The U.S. trade deficit has in fact more 
than doubled since President George W. Bush took office. The U.S. 
trade deficit has been a drag on our economic growth in 18 of the 
24 quarters of George W. Bush’s presidency, 18 of his 24 quarters. 

Our current account deficit in 2006 reached almost $857 billion. 
That is also a new record. It now represents 61⁄2 percent of our 
GDP. Since 1994, the first full year in which the North American 
Free Trade Agreement was in effect, the United States has accu-
mulated more than $5 trillion in external or trade debt. 

The United States has been a debtor nation for almost three dec-
ades now, and with our trade debt now rising at a faster rate than 
our national debt, as Congressman Scott pointed out which has 
reached $9 trillion, the United States could be consigned to debtor 
nation status in perpetuity. That is, unless the United States Gov-
ernment adopts a pragmatic and responsible new direction in its 
fiscal and trade policies. 

Congress is being called upon this year to renew fast track au-
thority, and the Bush administration as it did 5 years ago is insist-
ing that Congress continue to cede its constitutional power and re-
sponsibility of trade policymaking and to renew so-called fast track 
trade promotional authority which diminishes Congressional pre-
rogative and reduces representation of domestic interest in the 
same of so-called free trade. 

As I have already pointed out, free trade has been the most ex-
pensive trade policy this nation has ever pursued. There is abso-
lutely nothing free about ever larger trade deficits, mounting trade 
debts and the loss of millions of good paying American jobs. Since 
the beginning of this new century, the United States has lost more 
than 3 million manufacturing jobs. 
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Three million more jobs have been lost to cheap overseas labor 
markets in the name of outsourcing, as corporate America cam-
paigns relentlessly for what it calls higher productivity, efficiency 
and competitiveness. All three words have been revealed to mean 
nothing more than they are code words, code words for the cheap-
est possible labor in the world. 

Corporate America and our country’s political elites have com-
bined to put this country’s middle class, working men and women, 
into direct competition with the world’s cheapest labor. Salaries 
and wages now represent the lowest share of our national income 
than at any time since 1929. Corporate profits now have the larg-
est share of our national income than at any time since 1950. 

The pursuit of so-called free trade has resulted in the opening of 
the world’s richest consumer market to foreign competitors without 
negotiating a reciprocal opening of world markets for U.S. goods 
and services. That is not free trade by any definition, whether that 
of classical economists like Adam Smith and David Richardo or 
that of current propaganda ministers who use the almost Orwellian 
term of free trade to promote continuation of trade policies followed 
for the past three decades. 

How important is it that we reverse the course of these short-
sighted and destructive policies? More than 6 years ago the Board 
of Governors of the Federal Reserve had this to say about what 
happens when trade deficits exceed 5 percent of GDP: ‘‘We find 
that a typical current account reversal begins when the current ac-
count deficit is about 5 percent of GDP.’’ Again, our current account 
deficit is now 61⁄2 percent of GDP. 

The authors of the study went on to say, ‘‘In general, these epi-
sodes involve a declining net international investment position that 
levels off but does not reverse a few years after the current account 
begins its recovery.’’ It is important to note, I believe, that no re-
covery is underway and that most importantly the United States 
last year suffered negative investment flows. 

The cumulative effect of more than three decades of trade deficits 
and mounting external debt has produced our first investment in-
come deficit on record. This is the first time that Americans have 
earned less on investments abroad than foreigners earned on their 
investments in the United States since 1946, and that was the year 
the Commerce Department began keeping such records. 

Amazingly even our own top trade officials admit U.S. free trade 
policies are not working unless they consider trade surpluses for 
our trading partners to be the objective of U.S. trade policy. U.S. 
Trade Representative, Susan Schwab, appears to understand the 
consequences of the past few administrations’ free trade policies 
but she has shown little willingness to shift that policy. 

Ambassador Schwab said, ‘‘Our trade deficits are too high. We 
cannot pretend that the trade imbalance can just keep getting big-
ger with no cost,’’ and Ambassador Schwab’s Deputy Trade Rep-
resentative, Karen Bhatia, said outright, ‘‘From Chile to Singapore 
to Mexico, the history of our free trade agreements is that bilateral 
trade surpluses of our trading partners go up.’’

Because I seek balance and reciprocity of our trade policies, I 
have been called a table thumping protectionist, and the Bush ad-
ministration has hurled at me its favorite public epithet, at least 
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in terms of economic policy, calling me an economic isolationist. 
Nothing could be farther from the truth. I believe, as I hope you 
and the majority of all members of this Congress believe, irrespec-
tive of your political party, in the importance of an international 
system of trade and finance that is orderly predictive, well regu-
lated, mutual and fair. 

Reciprocity does not in any way connote protectionism. Mutuality 
does not in any way connote economic isolationism. But both terms 
when applied to our trade policy require a pragmatism and a com-
mitment to the domestic and national interests of this country in 
all international agreements, and I believe, as I hope you do, that 
no international agreement of any kind should ever again be signed 
by this government without clear, honest understanding of the po-
tentially awesome impact that such agreements have on the lives 
of our working men and women, our environment, and the quality 
of life. 

I salute and commend you, Mr. Chairman, and this committee 
for beginning the process of achieving that understanding, and for 
the first time in a very long time I am encouraged that this branch 
of our Government is looking upon the United States first as a na-
tion, and secondarily as an economy. It is choosing to represent 
Americans first as citizens rather than as consumers or units of 
labor. 

You have my thanks. I appreciate the opportunity to speak be-
fore you. I wish you all the best at what I hope becomes a turning 
point in our great country’s history. Thank you. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Dobbs follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF MR. LOU DOBBS, ANCHOR AND MANAGING EDITOR, CNN’S 
‘‘LOU DOBBS TONIGHT’’

THERE’S NOTHING FREE ABOUT FREE TRADE 

The United States has sustained 31 consecutive years of trade deficits, and those 
deficits have reached successively higher records in each of the past five years. The 
trade deficit has more than doubled since President George W. Bush took office. The 
U.S. trade deficit has been a drag on our economic growth in 18 of the 24 quarters 
of George W. Bush’s presidency. 

The current account deficit in 2006 reached almost $857 billion, also a new record, 
and now represents 6.5 percent of our total GDP. Since 1994, the first full year in 
which the North American Free Trade Agreement was in effect, the United States 
has accumulated more than $5 trillion in external or trade debt. 

The United States has been a debtor nation for almost three decades now, and 
with our trade debt now rising at a faster rate than the national debt, the United 
States could be consigned to international debtor status in perpetuity. That is, un-
less the U.S. government adopts a pragmatic and responsible new direction in its 
fiscal and trade policies. 

Congress is being called upon this year to renew fast-track authority, and the 
Bush administration, as it did five years ago, is insisting that Congress continue to 
cede its Constitutional power and responsibility of trade policymaking and to renew 
so-called ‘‘fast-track’’ trade promotional authority, which diminishes Congressional 
prerogative and reduces representation of domestic interest in the name of so-called 
‘‘free trade.’’

As I’ve already pointed out, free trade has been the most expensive trade policy 
this nation has ever pursued. There is nothing free about ever-larger trade deficits, 
mounting trade debts and the loss of millions of good-paying American jobs. 

Since the beginning of this new century, the United States has lost more than 
three million manufacturing jobs. Three million more jobs have been lost to cheap 
overseas labor markets as corporate America campaigns relentlessly for ‘‘higher pro-
ductivity, ‘‘efficiency,’’ and ‘‘competitiveness,’’ all of which have been revealed to be 
nothing more than code words for the cheapest possible labor in the world. 
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Corporate America and our country’s political elites have combined to put this 
country’s middle-class working men and women into direct competition with the 
world’s cheapest labor. Salaries and wages now represent the lowest share of our 
national income than any time since 1929. Corporate profits have the largest share 
of our national income than at any time since 1950. 

The pursuit of so-called free trade has resulted in the opening of the world’s rich-
est consumer market to foreign competitors without negotiating a reciprocal opening 
of world markets for U.S. goods and services. That isn’t free trade by any definition, 
whether that of classical economists like Adam Smith and David Ricardo or that of 
current propaganda ministers who use the almost Orwellian term to promote con-
tinuation of the trade policies followed for the last three decades. 

How important is it that we reverse the course of these short-sighted and destruc-
tive policies? More than six years ago, the Board of Governors of the Federal Re-
serve System had this to say about what happens when trade deficits exceed 5 per-
cent of GDP: ‘‘We find that a typical current account reversal begins when the cur-
rent account deficit is about 5 percent of GDP.’’ Again, our current account deficit 
now represents 6.5 percent of GDP. The authors of the study go on to say: ‘‘In gen-
eral, these episodes involve a declining net international investment position that 
levels off, but does not reverse, a few years after the current account begins its re-
covery.’’

It is important to note that no recovery is underway, and that most importantly, 
the United States last year suffered negative investment flows. The cumulative ef-
fect of more than three decades of trade deficits and mounting external debt has 
produced our first investment income deficit on record. This is the first time that 
Americans have earned less on investments abroad than foreigners earned on their 
investments in the United States since 1946, when the Commerce Department 
began keeping records. 

Amazingly, even our own top trade officials admit that U.S. free trade policies 
aren’t working, unless they consider trade surpluses for our trading partners to be 
the objective of U.S. trade policy. 

U.S. Trade Representative Susan Schwab appears to understand the consequences 
of the past few administrations’ free trade policies, but she’s shown little willingness 
to shift that policy. Schwab said, ‘‘. . . Our trade deficits are too high. We can’t . . . 
pretend that the trade imbalance can just keep getting bigger with no cost.’’

And Ambassador Schwab’s Deputy Trade Representative, Karan Bhatia, said out-
right, ‘‘From Chile to Singapore to Mexico, the history of our [Free Trade Agree-
ments] is that bilateral trade surpluses of our trading partners go up.’’

Because I seek balance and reciprocity in our trade policies, I’ve been called a 
‘‘table-thumping protectionist,’’ and the Bush administration has hurled at me its 
favorite public epithet, ‘‘economic isolationist.’’ Nothing could be farther from the 
truth. I believe, as I hope you and the majority of all members of this Congress be-
lieve, irrespective of your political party, in the importance of an international sys-
tem of trade and finance that is orderly, predictive, well-regulated, mutual and fair. 

Reciprocity does not in any way connote protectionism. Mutuality does not in way 
connote economic isolationism. But both terms when applied to our trade policy re-
quire a pragmatism and a commitment to the domestic and national interests of this 
country in all international agreements. And I believe, as I hope you do, that no 
international agreement of any kind should ever again be signed by this government 
without clear, honest understanding of the potentially awesome impact that such 
agreements have on the lives of our working men and women, our environment, and 
our quality of life. 

I salute and commend you, Mr. Chairman, and this committee for beginning the 
process of achieving that understanding, and for the first time in a very long time, 
I am encouraged that this branch of our government is looking upon the United 
States first as a nation and secondarily as an economy, and is choosing to represent 
Americans first as citizens, rather than consumers or units of labor. 

You have my thanks, and I appreciate the opportunity to speak before you. I wish 
you all the best in what I hope becomes a turning point in our great country’s his-
tory.

Mr. SHERMAN. Mr. Dobbs, thank you for your remarks, and 
thank you for coming here a long distance, and most importantly 
thank you for your show which illuminates these issues for Ameri-
cans every evening. 

Next I welcome the Honorable Carla Hills, chair and chief execu-
tive officer of Hills & Company International Consultants. Ambas-
sador Hills served as U.S. Trade Representative under President 
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George H. W. Bush. During the Ford administration, she served as 
Secretary of the Department of Housing and Urban Development, 
and in that role she was the third woman in our history to hold 
a cabinet position. Ambassador Hills, thank you for joining us. 

STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE CARLA A. HILLS, CHAIR AND 
CEO, HILLS & COMPANY, FORMER UNITED STATES TRADE 
REPRESENTATIVE 

Ambassador HILLS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members of 
the subcommittee. I thank you for inviting me to say a few words 
about trade, foreign policy and the American worker. For more 
than 50 years under both Democratic and Republican administra-
tions, the United States has led the world in opening global mar-
kets. World trade has exploded, and standards of living have 
soared at home and abroad. Economist Gary Hufbauer, in a study 
published in 2005 by the Peterson Institute for International Eco-
nomics, calculates that the 50 years of opening global markets has 
made the United States richer by $1 trillion per year, making the 
average U.S. household $9,000 richer per year. 

Dr. Hufbauer’s study calculates that going forward open global 
markets could raise U.S. income by another $500 billion per year, 
making average households richer by an additional $4,500 a year. 
No other policy decision could come close to having such a positive 
impact on the United States’ economic well-being. 

Developing countries have also gained from the opening of global 
markets. On average poor countries that have opened their mar-
kets have grown nearly five times faster than those who have kept 
their markets closed. World Bank studies show that economic 
interdependence has raised some 375 million people out of poverty 
over the past two decades. 

A broad agreement in the Doha Round could further integrate 
poor countries into the global trading system and has the potential 
of raising an additional 500 million people out of poverty. Also, a 
strong multilateral agreement would strengthen failing states that 
make it more difficult for our Government to deal effectively with 
problems such as terrorism and proliferation of weapons of mass 
destruction. 

For example, three World Trade Organization members—Ban-
gladesh, Pakistan and Indonesia—each have 100 million people liv-
ing in dire poverty. Six African members add another 200 million 
persons in poverty. All are located in regions of instability. Dr. 
Cline calculates that on average a 1 percent increase in a country’s 
ratio of trade translates to a 1 percent decrease in poverty. 

On foreign policy, our nation has broad interests—economic, stra-
tegic, and military—that shape our foreign policy. Not all are of 
equal importance, and those that rank high cannot always be 
pressed at the same time. Trade is one of our interests that must 
be balanced against our other interests. At times trade can help 
achieve our other objectives. We have used trade sanctions against 
state sponsors of terrorism and states that seek to acquire nuclear 
weapons. Nations with whom we have a strong trading relationship 
usually are more supportive of our broad policy goals than others. 

Today our trade deficit is large and not sustainable over the 
long-term, but it is hard to conclude that it hinders our foreign pol-
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icy objectives. The three best ways to reduce our trade deficit are: 
First, open foreign markets through trade negotiations so we have 
more opportunities to export; second, increase domestic savings 
particularly by reducing the Federal budget deficit; and third, en-
courage flexible exchange rates. 

It is interesting to note that nations with whom we do have free 
trade agreements account for almost half our exports. Over 80 per-
cent of our trade deficit is with nations with whom we do not have 
a free trade agreement. 

The American worker has benefitted from our open trade policy. 
The average family incomes are higher per year as a result of 
steady opening of global markets. But it is true that technology has 
transformed the manufacturing sector in the last decade, enabling 
22 percent fewer workers to produce 30 percent more goods. 

Rapid transformation of our work force has made our economy 
one of the most dynamic in the world with historically low unem-
ployment, but this rapid change has fueled high job anxiety. Stud-
ies, again at the Peterson Institute, that calculate a $1 trillion 
yearly gain for the U.S. economy from past market openings also 
calculate that the lifetime costs of worker displacement to be 
roughly $50 billion a year. Currently our nation spends about $2 
billion annually to address directly the costs connected with dis-
placement. 

In my view to maintain public support for open markets which 
generate growth for our economy, we need to allocate more of the 
gains derived from trade to assist those who are displaced, whether 
from foreign competition or from technology. Wage insurance is one 
way to supplement the income of a displaced worker who takes an 
entry level job in a new sector. Such a program encourages the 
worker to stay in the work force thereby reducing the outlays for 
unemployment insurance while providing the most effective job 
training possible, and that is training on a real job. 

There is a wage insurance component in our trade adjustment 
assistance program but it does not cover service workers who com-
prise 80 percent of our work force, and it only covers workers who 
are 50 years or older. And it has a $10,000 cap. Also subsidizing 
a portion of the workers’ health insurance premiums would help re-
lieve anxiety. 

Studies again by the Peterson Institute estimate that the cost of 
expanding both trade adjustment assistance and health care tax 
program to cover displaced workers to be between $3 billion and 
$12 billion a year, depending on the breadth of coverage and the 
amount of benefits. 

Finally, I believe more attention needs to be given to education 
and skill building. In our rapidly changing world, it is not accept-
able that 30 percent of our high school students fail to graduate. 
For years Washington has given tax incentives to encourage capital 
investment. To keep our nation competitive, policymakers must 
find an effective way to encourage similar investment in human 
capital. 

Trade promotion authority permits our Government to negotiate 
agreements to continue to level the playing field. Looking at the 14 
regional and bilateral trade agreements that the United States has 
negotiated, except for Australia and Canada, all 12 of those nations 
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before negotiations began had substantially duty free access to our 
market through our various preference programs. Regarding those 
agreements awaiting Congressional approval, Colombia has 90 per-
cent free access to our market, Panama has 95 percent, and Peru 
has 98 percent. In all three cases, our producers face substantial 
trade restrictions in those three markets. When these agreements 
are approved, our producers and workers will gain more export op-
portunity. In addition these trade agreements will encourage rule 
of law, respect for property and transparency. 

In conclusion, I believe we need to stay focused on three goals: 
First, to work hard to get global markets opened to create opportu-
nities that will raise standards of living worldwide and here at 
home; secondly to educate and train American workers to be the 
very best in the world; and finally to develop programs to assist 
our work force cope more effectively with rapid change, and 
progress in those three areas will guarantee a strong, confident, 
and prosperous America. And thank you. 

[The prepared statement of Ms. Hills follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE CARLA A. HILLS, CHAIR AND CEO, HILLS 
& COMPANY, FORMER UNITED STATES TRADE REPRESENTATIVE 

Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee, I am pleased to join you today 
to discuss how our trade policy substantially advances our nation’s economic, secu-
rity, and strategic interests worldwide. 
U.S. Trade Policy of Opening Markets Boosts Economic Growth 

For more than 50 years, under both Democratic and Republic administrations, the 
United States has led the world in opening global markets. To that end, the United 
States worked to establish a series of international organizations, including the 
General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) in 1947 and the World Trade Or-
ganization (WTO) in 1995. In 1947, only 23 nations participated in the first round 
of trade negotiations. Today, 150 nations are participating in the ninth round, the 
Doha Round. 

Our experience proves that increased economic interdependence boosts economic 
growth and encourages political stability. The results to date have been spectacular. 
World trade has exploded and standards of living have soared at home and abroad. 
Economist Gary Hufbauer in a comprehensive study published in 2005 by the Insti-
tute for International Economics, now the Peterson Institute for International Eco-
nomics, calculates that 50 years of globalization, defined as the free flow of goods, 
services, capital, and ideas, has made the United States richer by $1 trillion per 
year or about $9,000 added wealth per year for the average U.S. household. Dr. 
Hufbauer’s studies calculate that, going forward, open global trade would raise U.S. 
income by $500 billion per year, making the average U.S. household richer by an 
additional $4,500 per year. No other policy decision could come close to having such 
a positive impact on U.S. economic well-being. 
U.S. Trade Policy of Opening Markets Reduces Poverty 

Developing countries have also gained from the opening of global markets. On av-
erage, poor countries that have opened their markets to trade and investment have 
growth nearly five times faster than those that kept their markets closed. Studies 
conducted by the World Bank show that globalization has raised some 375 million 
people out of extreme poverty over the past 20 years. 

A broad agreement in the Doha Round could further help to reduce global poverty 
by integrating poor nations into the global trading system. Today nearly three bil-
lion people, almost half the world’s population, live below the international poverty 
line of $2 per day. According to studies by economist William Cline at the Center 
for Global Development, removing global trade barriers would yield $200 billion an-
nually in long term economic benefits for poor countries and lift 500 million people 
out of poverty. About half the benefit would come from opening markets in agri-
culture goods, which account for roughly a quarter of poor countries’ exports and 
represents the sector that employs roughly half their population. 

Today, tariffs on agriculture goods are five times higher than tariffs on industrial 
goods, and it is the only sector where export subsidies and tariff rate quotas are 
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still permitted. A multilateral agreement dealing with agriculture barriers will 
maximize poverty alleviation for it will require commitments from all nations. De-
veloping countries as a group have higher tariffs than industrial countries and trade 
disproportionately with other developing countries. Thus, a global trade agreement 
will best integrate poorer nations into the global trade system by maximizing oppor-
tunity for their people and stimulating their economic growth. 

U.S. Trade Policy of Opening Markets Helps Strengthen Failing States 
A strong multilateral agreement that reduced barriers to trade in agriculture and 

manufactured goods and opened up markets for services could help strengthen weak 
and failing states that jeopardize U.S. Security. Impoverished states often lack the 
ability to enforce their laws and secure their borders, making it much more difficult 
for the U.S. government to deal effectively with transnational problems such as ter-
rorism, organized crime, narcotics trafficking, money laundering, illegal arms sales, 
disease pandemics, and environmental degradation. 

William Cline’s studies that I earlier mentioned meticulously map global poverty. 
Three WTO members—Bangladesh, Indonesia, and Pakistan—each have roughly 
100 million people living below the international poverty line. Six African mem-
bers—the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Kenya, Mozambique, Nigeria, Tan-
zania, and Uganda, together account for another 200 million people living in dire 
poverty. All are located in regions beset by instability. Dr. Cline calculates that on 
average a one percent increase in a country’s ratio of trade to output eventually 
boosts its income by one-half percent, which translates into a one percent reduction 
in poverty and a concomitant increase in stability. 

Relationship of Trade Policy to Foreign Policy 
The United States has many interests, economic, strategic, and military, that 

need to be balanced. Not all issues in any one category are of equal importance in 
advancing our national interest. Even those that rank high cannot always be 
pressed effectively at the same time. 

Business, labor, agricultural, environmental, human rights, ethnic, and religious 
groups vigorously compete for the attention of U.S. policy makers to move their 
issues to the top of the new global agenda. The input of concerned groups of citizens 
is a fundamental part of our democratic process, and it influences both the content 
and implementation of our nation’s trade and foreign policy. 

Ultimately it is the responsibility of the President and the members of his cabinet 
tasked with responsibilities for foreign affairs, security, finance, and trade working 
with Congress to develop a sound multi-dimensional policy that strikes a proper bal-
ance among our varied national interests—and is comprehensible—not only to other 
nations but to our own citizens. 

Trade policy is by no means supreme or sacrosanct. It is one of the many interests 
that our government must weigh and balance along with our foreign policy and stra-
tegic objectives. At times trade can play a role in helping to achieve these objectives. 
For example, the United States has used economic and trade sanctions against state 
sponsors of terrorism, non-state terrorism and states that seek to acquire nuclear 
weapons. And, our government does not begin trade negotiations unless foreign pol-
icy and national security officials believe that a successful agreement will advance 
our nation’s broad policy and strategic goals as well as its commercial interests. In 
this regard it is noteworthy that trade negotiations with Thailand were suspended 
after the coup. On the positive side, nations with whom we have a strong trading 
relationship are usually more supportive of our broad policy objectives than those 
with whom our trade is of minor importance. 

Impact of Our Trade Deficit on Our Foreign Policy 
It is hard to conclude that the U.S. trade deficit hinders our foreign policy objec-

tives. The United States is the world’s largest customer, which is more important 
to those that trade with us than our balance sheet. Having said that, there is no 
question but that as an economic proposition our trade deficit is too large to be sus-
tained indefinitely, and we should look for ways to reduce it. 

The three best ways to trim the trade deficit are (1) open foreign markets through 
trade negotiations; (2) increase domestic savings, particularly by reducing the fed-
eral budget deficit; and (3) encourage flexible exchange rates. 

It is interesting to note that the nations with whom we have a free trade agree-
ment account for almost half (44 percent) of our exports and about one third of our 
imports. The vast bulk of our trade deficit (in excess of 80 percent) is with nations 
with whom we do not have a free trade agreement. 
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Relationship of Trade Agreements to Anti-Terrorism and Weapons Proliferation 
While trade agreements can help to create the resources to combat terrorism or 

weapons proliferation, there are other fora and policy tools to deal more directly 
with those challenges. Having said that, trade agreements that open markets en-
courage growth, help to alleviate poverty and encourage transparency, respect for 
property and rule of law that contribute to global stability, one antidote to ter-
rorism. 

I do not pretend to be an expert on proliferation, but it is interesting to note that 
the nations that have persistently tried to acquire nuclear weapons were for the 
most part nations that when they set their nuclear acquisition program in motion 
did not have a big stake in international trade or investment. I have reference to 
India, Iraq Iran, Pakistan, Libya, and North Korea. It is also interesting to note 
that all of the nations that were successfully persuaded by the United States to re-
frain from acquiring nuclear weapons had a substantial stake in the global economy. 
I have reference to Brazil, South Africa, South Korea, and Taiwan. 
The Impact of U.S. Trade Policy on the American Worker 

As I noted earlier, trade through open markets over the past half century has in-
creased average family incomes by close to $10,000 per year. American workers 
would be worse off had we failed to open global markets over the past half century. 

By opening global markets, our trade agreements create new opportunities for our 
services, farm and factory producers to increase their exports. The U.S. economy 
suffers when exports lag. In addition, firms engaged in international trade on aver-
age pay better wages, expand faster, and have more stable employment than those 
that do not. Thus having more U.S. firms engaged in trade benefits American work-
ers. 

We have seen a steady shift of jobs from the manufacturing sector to the services 
sector over the past four decades. Helped by faster and cheaper transportation and 
communications, manufacturing enterprises have transformed themselves from 
being vertically integrated to more fragmented enterprises—sourcing components 
from around the world. 

U.S. manufacturers are significant investors overseas. At the same time foreign 
companies have invested here, creating more than 6 million jobs and contributing 
exports of more than $160 billion. In fact, globalization of production has caused our 
manufacturing productivity to soar, and with it our overall standard of living. 

In the last decade alone, output by manufacturing enterprises has jumped 30 per-
cent, with 22 million fewer workers. According to Alliance Capital Management, job 
losses in manufacturing are not peculiar to the U.S. The losses have been global. 
Over the past 10 years, Japan’s manufacturing employment has dropped by 16 per-
cent; China’s by 15, Brazil’s by 20, and the U.S. by 11. 

Studies document that trade has played a very small part in this transformation 
of employment in the United States; notwithstanding that trade agreements are 
often portrayed as the enemy of the American worker. The real driver has been 
technology—cheaper and faster communication and transportation. 

Technology has eliminated some jobs, for example by substituting ATMs for bank 
tellers, computers for dictation, and robotics for manpower on assembly lines while 
creating others like computer engineers. Technology has also created jobs like com-
puter engineers and programmers. Of the 20 occupations the Bureau of Labor Sta-
tistics projects to grow the fastest to 2010, ten are IT related. The top five are all 
IT related. Most of these jobs did not exist a decade ago. 

This continuing transformation of work force has made our economy one of the 
most dynamic in the world. U.S. unemployment at 4.5 percent is low by historic 
standards. According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics, more jobs were created on 
average than lost every year in the past decade. Between 1992 and 2004, on average 
32.5 million jobs were created each year whereas on average 30.8 million jobs were 
lost each year. 

These unemployment figures must be read in light of our remarkably flexible 
labor market. It is that flexibility that makes the U.S. economy so productive. But 
it takes a toll on our workers. On average one of five Americans gain or lose a job 
each year. American workers change jobs more often than workers in most Western 
countries and often when they do, even with reemployment, they suffer earnings 
losses. This churn in our labor market fuels high worker anxiety and can create 
hardship. Today we are suffering from very high worker anxiety. 

The studies at the Peterson Institute for International Economics that calculate 
gains for the U.S. economy of $1 trillion per year from past market openings and 
additional gains of $500 billion per year from new market openings also calculate 
the lifetime costs of worker displacement to be roughly $50 billion per year. Cur-
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rently the nation spends about $2 billion annually to address directly the costs con-
nected to displacement. 

To maintain public support for open trade that advances our nation’s economic 
and strategic interests, and significantly improves the well being of average Ameri-
cans, our nation needs to allocate more of the gains derived from trade to assist 
those who are dislocated whether from trade or technology. 

Wage insurance is one way to supplement the income of the displaced worker who 
takes an entry-level job in a new, more promising sector. Such a program encour-
ages the worker to stay in the workforce, thus reducing the outlays for unemploy-
ment insurance, while providing the most effective job training possible, which is 
training on a real job. 

There is a wage insurance component in our Trade Adjustment Assistance Pro-
gram, but it is extremely limited. The program does not cover service workers who 
now comprise 80 percent of our workforce. It only applies to workers 50 years of 
age or older, and it has a $10,000 cap. Also subsidizing a portion of the displaced 
worker’s health insurance premiums is another. 

Studies by the Peterson Institute for International Economics estimate the costs 
of expanding both the Trade Adjustment Assistance Program and the Health Care 
Tax program to cover dislocated workers to be between $3 to $12 billion per year 
depending on the breadth of coverage and the amount of benefits——far less than 
the $1 trillion gains that the United States presently gains from open trade and far 
less than the additional gains that we could secure by a further opening of global 
markets. 

I also believe that our nation must devote more attention and resources to edu-
cation and skill building. We live in the knowledge age. It is not acceptable that 
30 percent of our high school students fail to graduate. That number soars to close 
to 50 percent in our inner cities. For years, Washington has given tax credits to en-
courage capital investment. To keep our nation competitive, policymakers need to 
find effective ways to encourage similar investment in human capital. 

The challenge in keeping our work force the best trained and most productive in 
the world is not limited to government. Business could do more. Some companies 
have launched effective educational programs for their employees. For example 
United Technology reports that it pays the tuition costs and gives paid time off for 
its employees to attend accredited universities. Since the program began in 1996, 
15 percent of UTC’s domestic employees are upgrading their education, which is 
about three times the national average. About 16,000 employees have obtained de-
grees since the program began. 

In addition the company offers a 4-year scholarship to any employee who is dis-
placed because of job relocation. The company pledges that if an employee at UTC 
loses a UTC job due to work relocation, whether that be to Delhi or Dallas, the com-
pany will pay for four years of college. 

What we should be talking about is not how to slow down the opening of markets 
to trade and investment that will give our economy a tremendous boost, but instead 
how to help those who are adversely affected by today’s rapid technological change 
and increased international competition. 
Trade Promotion Authority and Trade Agreements are Vital to U.S. Interests 

The economic case for continuing to work for open global markets is clear. When 
the United States persuades other nations to open their markets, our economy re-
ceives a substantial economic boost which benefits American households and helps 
to alleviate poverty in some of the most challenging regions of the world. The com-
bination of multilateral, regional and bilateral agreements creates new markets for 
our farm and factory producers and our service providers. 

Looking at the 14 regional and bilateral agreements that the United States has 
negotiated over the years, with the exception of our agreement with Canada and 
Australia, all of the nations involved before the negotiations commenced had sub-
stantially duty free access to our market through our various General System of 
Preference programs, the Caribbean Basin Initiative, the Andean Trade Preference 
Act, and the African Growth and Opportunity Act. Illustrative are the three bilat-
eral agreements awaiting Congressional approval: Today Colombia has 90 percent 
free access to our markets; Panama has 95 percent; and Peru has 98 percent. And, 
in all three cases, our producers of goods and services face substantial trade restric-
tions. When these agreements are approved, our producers and their workers will 
see a substantial reduction in tariffs and other trade restrictions gaining new export 
opportunity. Some would call this leveling the playing field. 

And, trade pays off in more ways than purely economic. Our trade agreements 
encourage rule of law, respect for property, and transparency. In the world at large 
there is a strong correlation between more open economies and the growth of a mid-
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dle class that inevitably clamors for clean air, clean water, safe streets, and a more 
accountable government. 

Our efforts to open markets require trade promotion authority. Without it, the 
United States is sidelined, loosing a proven engine for economic growth, a dem-
onstrated means for alleviating poverty, and a valuable tool for foreign policy objec-
tives. 
Conclusion 

As we look to the future, we need to stay focused on three key goals: (1) to work 
hard to get global markets open to create opportunity that will raise standards of 
living at home and abroad; (2) to educate and train American workers to be the very 
best in the world; and (3) to develop programs to assist our work force to cope more 
effectively with rapid pace of change that will continue to affect job opportunities 
worldwide. Progress in these three areas will guarantee a strong, confident, and 
prosperous America.

Mr. SHERMAN. Thank you, Ambassador Hills. We are going to 
have probably two votes called in they say 5 minutes. So that 
means 10 or 15. I will ask the witnesses to stay during that period. 
If it was just one vote we could kind of work around it, but with 
two votes we are going to need to take a break. Ambassador Hills, 
you say at the beginning of your statement that free trade has 
added $9,000 a year to the income of the average American family. 

If they put up chart number one again, you will see that over the 
last generation the middle class American families have increased 
their inflation adjusted income by roughly $3,000 or $4,000, and 
yet we are supposed to have gained $9,000 just from trade policies. 

At the U.S. Census Bureau, do they have the statistics wrong? 
Are the feelings of American families wrong? Are the people who 
buy Mr. Dobbs’ book about a squeezed middle class, are they crazy? 
Are we really $9,000 richer just as a result of trade? And then of 
course richer because we have got new science and technology and 
because we now have two earner families predominating? Or is 
your statistic just wrong? 

Ambassador HILLS. Mr. Chairman, those statistics come from 
1947 when the first round of trade talks were beginning to open 
markets and reduce tariffs to 1995, and that opening of markets 
on the calculation of Dr. Hufbauer, which are agreed to by many 
economists at the World Bank, show that our economy is $1 trillion 
richer per year. If you take the average——

Mr. SHERMAN. I have limited time so let me interrupt at this 
point. So what you are saying is the trade policies enriched Amer-
ican families before my chart, which starts in 1980. So the trade 
policies we had in the 1950s and 1960s helped our country, and 
then it was in the 1980s and 1990s that we started failing to see 
increases in household income. 

Shifting to Mr. Dobbs, Ambassador Hills—and I will ask you to 
comment on this as well—has told us that we need to reduce our 
budget deficit, we need to spend more money to educate our work-
ers and our kids, and we need to finance benefit programs and re-
training programs and insurance programs by those who are rav-
ished by our free trade policies. You are a pretty astute observer 
of the American body politic. Are we ready to pay enormous addi-
tional taxes in order to both balance our budget and pay for the 
ravages of free trade? 

Mr. DOBBS. Well, Mr. Chairman, first I agree with Ambassador 
Hills that we should be without question opening foreign markets. 
As to investing in education, I could not agree more. It is one of 
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the reasons that when we look at these investment flows and the 
amount of investment that corporate America has made and the 
number of jobs that we have lost which reduce our investment in 
public education, that I am very concerned with the so-called free 
trade policies that have been followed and that are impacting our 
working men and women who in point of fact provide the tax base 
for public education and for investment. 

It is critical that we look to those domestic issues as we assess 
international trade policies. In terms of retraining, wage insurance, 
that is almost—forgive me, Ambassador—a great society menu of 
social programs to deal with a trade policy that itself in my judg-
ment at least if it were corrected and properly focused and prag-
matic and committee to the interests of the citizens of this country, 
would eliminate the necessity for social engineering and expansive 
social programs, and I would prefer that we deal with the wrong 
headed trade policies that we have pursued over three decades 
rather than start doing greater social engineering. 

So that would be my response, Mr. Chairman. I am absolutely 
in agreement with the Ambassador on opening the markets. I just 
cannot understand why our Trade Representatives have not done 
so and why corporate America has such a fascination with free 
trade when we can look without question at the vast and immense 
burden that it places on this country’s economic system and society. 

Mr. SHERMAN. Well if we need revenues to deal with the ravages 
of free trade we can always look at tariff revenues but, Ambassador 
Hills. 

Ambassador HILLS. If the average American family today is 
$40,000—that is the median income—it would be $30,000 if we had 
not continued to open markets, and although we have had a steady 
progression on averages, we do have a bite that is being taken out 
of the displaced workers. We have 41⁄2 percent unemployment 
which is quite low by historic standards. What we worry about are 
those who are displaced and need additional training. The world is 
changing more rapidly because of technology. Faster communica-
tions. Faster and cheaper transportation. 

And if we are going to have our work force be as competitive as 
possible, be top of the line, we need to spend some of these monies 
to make them so but our exports are making a disproportionate ad-
dition to our economy. 

Mr. SHERMAN. Ambassador Hills, we have limited time, and I am 
just reclaiming a few seconds. What you are saying is that in a pe-
riod of time when we have gone from one earner to two earners, 
in a period of time when we have had explosive growth in produc-
tivity, that we would have had a dramatic decline in the income 
of American families if our trade policies had not come to the res-
cue. You are saying that we would have seen a dramatic decline 
over the last generation in spite of all this productivity, in spite of 
all this additional work. 

It just does not make any sense to say that our families are 
$9,000 richer because of trade when they are only $4,000 richer be-
cause of everything. The response has got to be we have had pro-
ductivity, we have had hard work, we have had science, and unfor-
tunately with that some very bad trade policies. Let me yield to the 
gentleman from Arkansas. 
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Mr. BOOZMAN. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. SHERMAN. If you can yield for an announcement. Votes have 

been postponed until this afternoon. I guess the House floor has 
recognized the importance of our two witnesses here. 

Mr. BOOZMAN. Again, thank you all for being here. I watch your 
stuff, Mr. Dobbs, and enjoy your show, and again, you know I agree 
with some and disagree with others but you know we are talking 
about wages, and that is such a complicated deal. One of the things 
that you stress on your show is illegal immigration, and I know in 
the area of the country that I am from carpenters, jobs that you 
used to be able to make a living and support your family, those 
jobs do not exist anymore, butchers in our packing plants that 
made lots of dollars several years ago, those jobs. 

Now you have situations where not only is the illegal immigrant 
coming and working and doing the work but they are taking over 
the jobs as the painting contractors and things like that. So you 
know that is tied up in this also. The other thing is regulation, liti-
gation and health care, making it such that our companies cannot 
compete overseas. I agree with you totally in the sense that many 
times we could have done a better job of doing our trade deals, and 
hopefully we are doing a better job of that now, and we need to 
work very hard at opening markets. 

But the suggestion of high tariffs and things like that I do not 
think you can throw the baby out with the bath water. So again, 
can you comment on that? Last night we passed a bill that took 
away the exemption of the railroads as they run through the 
United States. So you have a situation if that were to go forward—
I do not think that there is any way it will—but in the House bill 
that we passed last night, the exemption was taken away from the 
railroads to run through States so that each State, each community 
can determine the speed limit, if they want hazardous whatever 
coming through. 

When you have situations like that it makes it very, very dif-
ficult for industry. That is going to raise the cost through litigation 
if things like that were to stick. Can you comment about some of 
these other things? 

Mr. DOBBS. Thank you very much. First on the issue of illegal 
immigration, as Congressman Royce suggested, there is in the rela-
tionship with NAFTA among Canada, Mexico and the United 
States there is a creation of a sense of entitlement on the part of 
Mexico. Half of its population of more than 100 million people lives 
in poverty. It is no surprise or should be no surprise to anyone that 
those people would want to enter the United States for their own 
economic benefit. 

It also should be no surprise that the result of illegal immigra-
tion, massive illegal immigration and not as the President has 
taken to referring to it recently as does President Felipe Calderon 
of Mexico and the Mexican Government as migration, migration 
itself cuts out a certain sense of entitlement, do you not think? And 
the idea that we need desperately more unskilled labor because 
more than 60 percent of all illegal aliens are unskilled labor and 
uneducated. 

It is one of the great myths that is being proffered by the open 
borders, amnesty advocates and mostly their corporate supporters. 
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The four principal areas, as you suggest, Congressman, in which il-
legal aliens work in this country, construction, leisure, hospitality 
and landscaping, if indeed there were a shortage of labor in those 
industries, I do not think there is an economist in the world who 
would suggest that we would see anything other than rising wages 
as a result. What we have seen over the past 6 years is a decline 
in wages in each of those areas. 

This is a real world in which we live. The pain and the frustra-
tion of the American middle class worker and their families are 
real. It is palpable. Ambassador Hills talked about a $40,000 an-
nual income for American families. Half of the workers in this 
country are making under $35,000 a year, contending with higher 
education costs, contending with higher health care costs, and the 
idea that there is a panacea for business that somehow that is mul-
tinational in scope and that is by some code that I have not read 
nor do I understand entitled to all of the cheap labor that it can 
possibly consume that the President’s response to border security 
is to say we need a guest worker program. 

As each of you knows, this country has a number of guest worker 
programs, 400,000 guest workers enter the country every year. We 
have 2 million people who come to this country every year as per-
manent residents, a million of them, 700,000 as legal citizens. We 
have the most open legal lawful immigration system in the world 
by far, and to me, it is absolute anathema to the interests of this 
country and certainly its working men and women to permit the 
concept of migration and give a sense of entitlement. 

We have invested tens upon tens of billions of dollars in China. 
I will tell you I supported NAFTA in 1993 on a very complex eco-
nomic concept. If we were to enrich anyone in this world with our 
trade, should we not enrich our neighbors? But what we have done 
is to ignore our neighbors. We have not invested in Mexico nor 
have we carried out responsible, mature relationships with Mexico 
that would be to their benefit. 

I believe that illegal immigration is certainly a component of our 
trade policies and our foreign policy that suggests that successive 
administrations have no concept of the well-being of working men 
and women in this country, and it has to change, and I am de-
lighted this committee is looking at I hope doing just that. 

Mr. SHERMAN. Our vice chairman, Mr. Scott. 
Mr. SCOTT. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. My mind is 

going so fast you have covered so much there. I started thinking 
about one question to ask you, then I am flipping to another one. 
But in my 5 minutes, I would like to touch upon the impact of the 
immigration that you mentioned in terms of finding a solution, and 
I also would like to have a moment to talk about the doubling of 
the trade deficit so quickly and also the amount of money we bor-
row from foreign governments, what that portends because I think 
it is all tied together. 

What we have got here is in the last 5 or 6 years just an amazing 
phenomena of a cauldron of these trade policies, immigration and 
foreign debt that are really hitting this country very, very swiftly 
and could have some very, very treacherous and dangerous results. 
But first of all, Mr. Dobbs, on the immigration, because that is clos-
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est at home and you have outlined it very well today and in your 
various specials. 

It is a complex problem for us in Congress to deal with it from 
a standpoint of the variety of constituencies which we have to try 
to cobble together. In my own district in Atlanta, Georgia, for ex-
ample, I represent the suburbs of Atlanta, the Cobb County and 
the Douglas County and the Henry Counties were at every town 
hall meeting, Congressman, you have got to do something about 
this immigration, immigration. 

There is a fear that I sense from people of the unknown of such 
a massive amount of Latinos and Hispanics. Let us be truthful 
here where the real energy is coming from. But yet I also represent 
some very critical industries, the poultry industry. We lead the na-
tion in the poultry industry in Georgia and around the Atlanta 
area, in Gainesville. You know that story. 

They will come and tell us, Congressman, we cannot find people 
in America. We cannot find American citizens to do this kind of 
work. I grew up on a farm, and I know what dealing with chickens 
is and dealing in the chicken coop, and it is a pretty rough assign-
ment. The restaurant people, it will drive us out of business they 
say. 

So what is your recommendation that we take the steps as we 
have to deal with this immigration and our leadership has said, in 
the Democratic leadership we are going to put an immigration bill 
together, what would you like to see in that immigration bill to ad-
dress the variety of concerns we just mentioned? 

Mr. DOBBS. Well, thank you for the opportunity to offer a few 
views on that. When you talk, Congressman, about the businesses 
that are in your district and which you represent along with the 
people of your district, as does every representative here, I do not 
see anywhere in the constitution or any part of our national history 
in which it says that what is good for business is good for America, 
and that the business should have primacy. 

This is an idea, a perspective that has been implicated over the 
past 30 years in which very sophisticated people, whether econo-
mists, CEOs, lobbyists, have come to you to say that the country’s 
future depends upon the primacy of business, and the suggestion 
that somehow this political system of ours does not have much to 
do with our economic system, there is no greater believer in free 
enterprise democracy in the country than I am but I will tell you 
I also believe fervently that our primary responsibility as citizens 
is to focus on the fundamental core issue of the founding document 
of this country. That is equality. 

Equality of individual rights. Equality of opportunity. That is 
economic opportunity and educational opportunity. And I would say 
to you as you evaluate comprehensive immigration reform as it is 
now styled—which I consider to be nothing more than outright am-
nesty for 12–20 million illegal aliens in this country—to think des-
perately hard and long about the impact on the citizens of your dis-
trict and the citizens of this country because that is not the great-
est urgency by any stretch of the imagination. 

The urgency is why do we permit employers to hire illegally? 
Why would the poultry industry be able to say to the vice chairman 
of this committee, I have got to have people who will work for $7 
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an hour? A number of studies have been done including one 3 years 
ago in agriculture in which primarily migrant workers provide the 
produce, and a study was done in which if you doubled their pay 
up to $15 an hour, it would add 10 cents to the cost of a head of 
lettuce. What kind of country are we? 

I hear liberals say that we have got to have a great and warm 
heart, and you mentioned there are Hispanics and Latinos in your 
district. Guess what? There are 40 million fellow Americans who 
are Hispanic. We are the most diverse open society on this planet. 
My God, we have got some Hispanics in your district. God bless 
them. God bless every one of us, citizens all. But we have a respon-
sibility, and if I may be presumptuous, I believe that this Congress 
has a responsibility to represent its citizens and our national val-
ues. 

The fact that we are not enforcing our borders, the fact that we 
have to look at the idea of free trade, the chairman referred to Al-
bert Einstein’s comment that the definition of insanity is to con-
tinue doing the same thing expecting a different result. It is star-
ing at us. Let us be empirical. Let us be realistic. Let us be prag-
matic. Let us look at the facts. We are permitting the destruction 
of the world’s richest democracy, and God I hope that is your first 
priority. 

Mr. SHERMAN. Mr. Dobbs, nothing thrills me more than having 
you allude to my statements. 

Mr. DOBBS. Thank you so much. 
Mr. SHERMAN. But our time has concluded. At this point con-

tinuing our hearings on U.S. trade policy, the gentleman from 
southern California, Mr. Royce. 

Mr. ROYCE. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. Continuing on 
that line of questioning, the net lifetime cost—and those are the 
costs of the benefits minus the taxes paid—per household headed 
by persons without a high school diploma in the United States is 
estimated by The Heritage Foundation to be $1.1 billion for that 
household. The reality is that the taxpayers will have to make up 
part of that difference. If supply and demand is not allowed to 
function, and if the cost of labor does not go up but instead is driv-
en down every year in real terms because of illegal immigration, 
then the cost falls on the Federal Government. 

We talked a little bit about the $9 trillion debt that we face. The 
Heritage Foundation views the legislation now being proposed as 
being the most massive welfare shift in U.S. history, and what is 
unique here is that we are talking about the consequences in the 
future once people realize that they broke the law. They came to 
the United States. People got amnesty, and now as the polling tells 
us there is 1 billion people in the world that feel, Well I might be 
entitled. 

You talked about the sense of entitlement. If other people did it 
and if other people received amnesty this year, then why should I 
not? Now we look at the costs in terms of the impact on the Fed-
eral treasury if we adopt a policy of open borders, and I think most 
of us agree that spending in Washington is out of control. It is 
hurting our economy. It is unfair certainly to future generations, 
and I just ask about the implications of the deficit spending here 
in Washington for our international competitiveness and the em-
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ployment consequences long term of it and coupled with this new 
initiative that Mr. Flake and Mr. Gutierez are proposing and the 
consequences that I see compounding that problem. 

And, Mr. Dobbs, I would like to ask you about that, and then, 
Carla Hills, I wanted to ask her she suggested that we should en-
courage flexible exchange rates, and I was going to ask her what 
advantages that would bring, and most importantly how do we 
push for those flexible exchange rates? Mr. Dobbs. 

Mr. DOBBS. I believe the Flake-Gutierez legislation which this is 
the third round with it in this Congress is as fundamentally flawed 
as McCane-Kennedy, both in concept and its organization. The cost, 
as you suggest, Congressman, is enormous, and it is hidden. I have 
said now for a number of years that there is a fundamental syllo-
gism of logic that applies here which has eluded this President and 
previous Presidents, frankly, this Congress and previous Con-
gresses. 

It is this straightforward in my judgment. You cannot effectively 
and meaningfully reform immigration law in this country if you 
cannot control immigration, and you cannot control immigration if 
you do not control our borders and our ports. Ninety-five percent 
of the cargo entering this country is uninspected. We have borders 
that are absolute sieves, and yet this Department of Homeland Se-
curity is responsible for protecting us in the war against terror. 

Mexico is the principle source of methamphetamines, cocaine, 
heroin and marijuana. Millions of young lives are destroyed every 
year. That is not the fault of Mexico. That is our fault. 

The demands to secure our borders are absolutely imperative, ob-
vious and critical, and yet this Congress and this President and 
like the Presidents and Congresses before it, have resisted, and for 
what reason? Not to serve the common good or preserve national 
interest, and I think that is a fundamental question if I may return 
to the vice chairman’s point as to what should be a priority in the 
thinking of this body. To me it is a question of priorities. For some 
I think it is a question of serving interests beyond those of the 
American people and the national interest itself. 

Mr. SHERMAN. I believe the Ambassador should also address Mr. 
Royce’s question. 

Ambassador HILLS. Mr. Royce, we like exchange rates to be gov-
erned by the market forces, and in East Asia the exchange rates 
are undervalued. I think Secretary Paulson is working very hard 
to try to get that changed. For the East Asian it is not restricted 
to China but Japan and South Korea, were their currencies too ap-
preciate relative to the dollar, that would encourage our exports. 

Exports are important. With 5 percent of the world’s population 
we create almost a quarter of the output, and so we need to find 
markets. We cannot hedge on that. We need to find markets into 
which to sell our wheat, our corn, our computers, all those things 
we produce, and currency has a dramatic effect on our ability to ex-
port as much as we ought to be able to in a market-governed econ-
omy. 

Mr. SHERMAN. Thank you. The gentleman from Florida, Mr. 
Klein. 

Mr. KLEIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you both or joining 
us today. A couple of observations and a question. Ambassador, you 
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mentioned that the high job anxiety that is out there is because of 
efficiencies in productivity, among other things, and that we have 
low unemployment of 41⁄2 percent. When I combined that with Mr. 
Dobbs’ comment about agriculture, construction, leisure as being 
many of the jobs that we have—and I am from Florida. That is ex-
actly the kinds of jobs, and unfortunately those are low wage jobs 
in Florida. 

And so what has happened in parts of the economy when we 
have lost some of the higher paying, more productive jobs—I should 
not say more productive, they are all productive—but higher pay-
ing quality jobs is people have had to take two jobs or they are tak-
ing low wage jobs. So sometimes the 41⁄2 percent is certainly not 
reflective of the anxiety and the reality of feeding someone, putting 
a roof over their home, and the normal consequences of daily lives, 
and the anxiety that is created with that. 

So that is just an observation on that, and in a second I am going 
to ask you to comment, and secondly, I want to take a slightly dif-
ferent approach here also. In the Foreign Affairs Committee, we 
have had a chance to talk about Latin America and Central Amer-
ica in our western hemisphere, and there has been a lot of con-
cern—Democrats and Republicans—that we have not had a par-
ticularly effective policy, active policy toward dealing with these 
countries. 

You have got many of these economies and the life that is going 
on in these countries very wealthy, very poor, which lends itself to 
populous leaders like Mr. Chavez coming in and grabbing control 
and exporting his thinking and his billions of dollars in those other 
countries. The only way we have really approached this over the 
years in any way is through trade, and in many people’s views an 
ineffective trade policy, and beyond that, we have not done much 
of anything which is why the United States is not viewed particu-
larly favorably in many of these countries at this moment. 

What can be done in using trade policy that can be effective and 
not only being effective for our economy and not diminishing and 
lower wages which is certainly not a goal that we want to do, but 
at the same time I do not want to use the term winning hearts and 
minds, but making countries realize it is in their best interest to 
work with us, to have a good relationship with the United States. 
So combine both the foreign affairs side of things and the trade pol-
icy, and, Mr. Dobbs, you are welcome to comment as well, but if 
you would start, Ambassador, please. 

Ambassador HILLS. I think we have to give more attention to af-
fairs in this hemisphere. It deals with trade to open markets so 
that we can have a relationship but it also deals with being more 
attentive to their concerns. We cannot convert Latin American 
countries into our image but we can meet with them as equals and 
talk about our combined issues. Mr. Dobbs mentioned our borders 
and terrorism. We cannot control our borders as effectively unless 
we have cooperation with our neighbors, and we know from past 
experience that when we have cooperated, where we have worked 
through the Organization of American States, we have had positive 
outcomes. Brazil is sending more peacekeepers to Haiti than we 
are, and we can sit with Brazil, but there are trade concerns that 
we must address. 
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Do you feel that it is right that we have a 50 percent tariff on 
ethanol coming from Brazil? Should we be giving a 50-cent-per-gal-
lon subsidy so that we produce it only here at home? Energy policy 
is an issue that we could talk with our neighbors about but again 
I happen to believe that reaching out to countries around the world 
on common issues, whether it be border control, whether it be 
trade, whether it be serious energy concerns we will do better by 
instead of dictating by collaborating. 

Mr. KLEIN. I agree with that but I just again am pointing out 
the fact that we have tried with some trade policies some of which 
you know are questionable but the reality is foreign policy and 
trade policy have to be interrelated, and I think that there are 
many that recognize right now, and maybe you can supplement 
your comments afterwards with some additional thoughts on what 
you are thinking on this. 

Ambassador HILLS. Well let me just say this. Trade policy does 
not cure disease. Trade policy does not educate children. What 
trade policy does is to enhance economic growth, both for a poor 
country and our country. We have seen since World War II that 
open trade policy generates economic growth. What governments do 
with their growth, their wealth, is another issue. But if you close 
the market, you will shrink our economy. We will have no place to 
sell our goods, and we cannot consume all that we produce. 

So we want to keep markets open. We want to keep exports 
thriving. We also need to deal with other issues. The question is: 
How do we use the gains that we obtain from trade to address 
these other issues? 

Mr. KLEIN. Mr. Dobbs, can you just comment as well? 
Mr. DOBBS. Yes. I think that it is very important for all of us to 

understand there is no issue here in my judgment for reasonable 
public discourse in looking at two choices. That is, the absolutely—
Ambassador Hills, I am delighted to agree on this—that our poli-
cies and the results of those policies in terms of trade deficits and 
the mounting trade debt are simply unsustainable. That is a choice 
that we simply do not have, whether you call it free trade or utter 
madness, nor do we have a choice of closing markets and being in 
any way isolationists. Those are not choices before us. 

And your question I think is entirely both appropriate and time-
ly. I said I supported NAFTA in 1993 in order to enrich a trading 
partner nearest us and Canada. The result has been a decline in 
manufacturing wages for Mexico, the loss of just about a million 
jobs in this country, an economic integration policy that was enthu-
siastically being embraced by this President in 2001, meeting with 
President Vicente Fox twice but how many times—and the events 
of September 11 obviously reversing course for the administration, 
for this government. 

But what is our policy, our foreign policy with Eva Morales, 
Hugo Chavez? What is our policy with Brazil, Ecuador, Bolivia, 
Venezuela, Colombia and the Government of Mexico? It is indis-
cernible. Our trade policy is absolutely confused. We sustained 
$140 billion trade deficit with our NAFTA partners Canada and 
Mexico last year, and we are talking about a country in the case 
of Mexico as I said with 50 percent poverty. 
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We have no mature relationship. There is a paternal and conde-
scending perspective in our relationship with Mexico that does not 
require a mutual respect and an insistence on mutual responsi-
bility in that relationship, and I think we have to look at that per-
spective as perhaps being practiced with the entire hemisphere. I 
hope it is not true but that seems to be the policies that are appar-
ent and the obvious result of those policies in our relationship. 

Mr. SCOTT [presiding]. Thank you, Mr. Dobbs. Mr. Tancredo from 
Colorado. 

Mr. TANCREDO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Chairman, you 
mentioned specifically the chicken processing plants in your district 
that come to you and talk to you about their needs in labor, and 
it just brought to mind an article that appeared in the Wall Street 
Journal not too long ago about a plant in Stillmore, Georgia, Crider 
Incorporated. It lost about 75 percent of its employees due to a se-
ries of raids by ICE because they were illegal aliens. They were 
forced to look at alternatives, and the alternative that they went 
to were the unemployed that were there in the community. 

They now have found that because they had to raise wages, 
which they did from $7 to $9 an hour, they have been able to fill 
the jobs. With whom? Mostly African Americans who had been un-
employed in the area. They also provide some sort of housing ar-
rangements. They provide free transportation from town. They 
have had to do things but they could do things that actually filled 
the jobs with people who had been unemployed. 

And so the same thing happened by the way in Colorado and a 
number of other States when raids were conducted at Swift and 
Company. Thirteen hundred employees were gone because they 
were illegal aliens, and what happened the next day, according to 
company officials, is they received thousands of applications from 
all over the country for those jobs. Now in fact probably wages 
would have to go up and did, and I am happy about that, and we 
were able to find workers. 

And my only point here is that I challenge the statement that 
you hear over and over and over again that the only way these cor-
porations and companies will stay in business is if we import cheap 
labor. There are laborers here who are willing to do the job but 
simply not for the wage rates that are being paid to people who are 
being exploited by those corporations. 

Mr. SCOTT. Would the gentleman yield just one moment? I would 
just like to make sure the record is clear. 

Mr. TANCREDO. I will yield. 
Mr. SCOTT. My Pilgrims Pride was one of the largest, if not the 

largest in the poultry business, and with all due respect for what 
you said and theirs, I want to just add that their salary level was 
$10.50 an hour, and that have raised considerable concern that 
they could not meet that. So in all fairness, I think that this is one 
of the reasons why we need to get the industry, we need to get all 
of the actors in front of us so that we can really address the incon-
sistencies and be fair to every bit of these constituencies, and I 
think this is what we have said. 

Mr. TANCREDO. Reclaiming my time. I certainly am in favor of 
getting all parties in front of us and discussing the issue but all 
I am pointing out is that there is empirical evidence to prove the 
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case that we do not need imported labor, especially illegal labor, in 
order to fill the jobs I think that are here waiting for Americans. 

But let me go to Ambassador Hills for a second because, Madam 
Ambassador, I had first voted for fast tracking for the President 
but I must tell you that I have grave concerns about that, and here 
is why. When I watched what happened especially in the debate 
over and actually the bill that was passed that we refer to as 
CAFTA, the Central America Free Trade Agreement, we recognized 
that if we really and truly are looking for just simply free trade, 
if that is it, it is a relatively simple task to accomplish that through 
legislation with any number of countries. It does not really take an 
awful lot of writing in order to say there will be no trade barriers 
between these countries. 

The fact is that the bill itself was over 1,000 pages long, and 
when we looked at it very carefully what we saw was that there 
were a lot of things in that bill that had absolutely nothing to do 
with trade. They had to do with service agreements, with immigra-
tion related issues, and we tried to point this out. I certainly did, 
and to no avail. 

I am leery about giving the President that same authority be-
cause of what he has done with it in the past. Do you not agree 
that trade bills should be just trade bills? Because for one thing if 
after we discuss them we have by the way no ability to change it 
when it comes to the floor, all we can do is pass it or not and the 
trade agreement, cannot amend it, since that is the case, should we 
not be incredibly more concerned than we apparently are about 
what does get into these bills that do not have anything to do with 
trade because we cannot change it afterwards and we get taken to 
the CAFTA tribunal or then to the WTO after that? 

It seems to me that he has squandered what we have given him, 
the President that is, by including these things that are extraneous 
to trade and do deal with—and specifically I am referring to service 
agreements that were inside that CAFTA bill. 

Ambassador HILLS. Well I agree that you draft the legislation, 
not the administration. The administration negotiates the trade 
agreement. You cannot have 535 negotiators. Talk to anyone who 
negotiates any type of agreement. Talk to your friends in the 
unions. When they negotiate an agreement with business, they do 
not bring the agreement back to the union floor and say to someone 
in the back of the room, Oh you want a little more maternal bene-
fits? Perhaps more dentist compensation? They say, Vote it up or 
down. 

If you do not like the trade agreement, you should vote it down 
but we will have no trade agreements unless the trade negotiator 
can go out and do the best job possible to negotiate with the oppo-
site side of the coin, and when you have 150 nations as we do in 
the Doha Round, it is absolutely a house of cards if you begin to 
pull one card out. So you definitely need fast track authority. 

I do not think it is fair to say that the administration puts things 
into the legislation. They present a bill. Your colleagues put things 
in the legislation. When I got the Omnibus Trade Act, I have to say 
there were a lot of provisions in there that were unwelcome. 

Mr. SHERMAN [presiding]. The gentleman’s time has expired but 
he does make an excellent point that fast track does not just mean 
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fast track for a trade deal. It means fast track for whatever the ad-
ministration puts in the agreement. A woman is here with us who 
has extraordinary knowledge of these trade agreements. Her dis-
trict in Ohio has been perhaps ground zero for the effect of these 
trade agreements. She has been a leader on trade issues. The gen-
tlewoman from Ohio, Ms. Kaptur. 

Ms. KAPTUR. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I want to commend 
you for organizing these hearings this morning, and allowing us to 
discuss extraordinarily important issues to our country and the 
world, and I would like to ask unanimous consent on behalf of Con-
gresswoman Sutton to place in the record her remarks. She had to 
go to the floor to handle a rule on the budget bill. 

Mr. SHERMAN. Without objection. 
Ms. KAPTUR. I thank you very much. I want to also welcome our 

very distinguished guests this morning, Mr. Dobbs and Ambas-
sador Hills. We thank you very much for taking time to talk to the 
American people today through us. I would like to begin before I 
question with this statement, and that is I believe that America’s 
tragic roots in slavery and the economic and political institutions 
that aided and abetted it are a deep scar on our history, and indeed 
we are still trying to bind the wounds that President Lincoln so 
eloquently described when he called the nation to heal itself. We 
are still trying to do that. 

But I also believe there are modern-day institutional equivalents 
of exploitation and the diminishment of personhood and the upend-
ing of our democratic political ideals, and among them is the 
NAFTA free trade model, and fast track procedures that are insti-
tutional downdrafts on human freedom. Trade definitely has a logic 
but it has no ethic, and we are here this morning to talk about a 
new model for America, for the continent and the world. 

I have served in this Congress 25 years, and Ambassador Hills, 
I have had an opportunity to receive you as a witness prior to 
NAFTA’s passage before other subcommittees of this Congress, and 
before I begin asking my questions I just wanted to say I have been 
here long enough to have gone to Japan in 1985 and offered Prime 
Minister Nakesone free Champion spark plugs from my district, 
the best plug made in the world back in those days, and said, Mr. 
Prime Minister, your market is closed. 

How can we have free trade when Japan, where we have the 
largest trade deficit now—China is growing fast—but it is our 
number one trade deficit with the world, when your market is 
closed? Today less than 3 percent of the cars on the streets of 
Japan are from any place else in the world. They would not even 
take Yugos. 

So how can you have free trade in a world where other markets 
are closed? I agree with you, Ambassador Hills, we need open mar-
kets. The reality is they are not. I know your husband used to be 
a chief representative for Honda, and I do not know whether he 
still is or not. That was printed in the Wall Street Journal, or was 
it Nissan? 

Ambassador HILLS. You must have the wrong person because my 
husband has never worked for Honda. He is an attorney. He was 
chairman of the SEC, and he continues to be an attorney. 



30

Ms. KAPTUR. Yes. But did he not represent Honda as part of his 
firm? I read that in the Wall Street Journal. I will go back and get 
that article for the record. 

Ambassador HILLS. Well I do not know. I have not seen the arti-
cle, but I do know my husband of 48 years. 

Ms. KAPTUR. Yes, I am sure you do very well but that was print-
ed in the Wall Street Journal. I was quite surprised. Your husband 
has never had any relationships with any of the Japanese auto-
motive makers? No business relationships? 

Ambassador HILLS. I believe he has not. 
Ms. KAPTUR. All right. We will check that out. But I can remem-

ber when Sam Gibbons said to me when he was chairing our trade 
subcommittee, he said, Congresswoman, you do not need to worry 
about the trade deficit with Japan because you see when the yen-
dollar relationship changes it will self-correct. I was young in those 
days. I watched the numbers, and by golly 15 years later it did not 
matter what the yen-dollar relationship was 95 to the dollar or 275, 
it never balanced, and I thought oh, they have a managed market 
but our trade policy does not do anything about that, and so we 
continued to go into deeper and deeper and deeper deficit with 
Japan. 

Now I want to focus on NAFTA in my questioning but I just 
wanted to mention that because I have been here long enough, 
Madam Ambassador, to have been around when you helped to ne-
gotiate NAFTA, and in 1992 you said to the Senate Finance Com-
mittee the following: ‘‘That if we passed NAFTA it would mean 
more jobs for auto workers in Ohio, Michigan and Pennsylvania.’’ 
You also said that ‘‘the agreement would help Mexico, and that 
Mexico would be strong.’’

I can assure you that Ohio is now among the top three job losers 
due to NAFTA. The trade surplus you and Gary Hufbauer prom-
ised never happened with NAFTA. In fact, we have gone into huge 
deficit, as Mr. Dobbs has attested this morning, and in fact, there 
are some who believe that the diminishment of human personhood 
as apart of the NAFTA agreement was actually insidious and 
planned in that when it came before Congress and we were fast 
tracked here, the provisions to cushion Mexico’s hito system, the 
small holder system in Mexico, was not allowed to be offered as an 
amendment, and it was purposefully negotiated in a way to force 
all those workers off their land, and they have become an endless 
stream into our country, over 2 million farm families. 

So I just wanted to assure you that your statement that it would 
create jobs for Ohio auto workers has not happened. We have cre-
ated Mexico as an export platform into the United States, and 
workers from my district who have lost their jobs have had to train 
Mexico’s workers to do what they used to produce. And, Mr. Speak-
er, in ending I just want to say in my district Phillips Lighting has 
lost 2,000 jobs to Mexico, Ford Motor 1,500, Dixon Ticonderoga 300, 
Georgia-Pacific Dixie Cups are gone, Spangler candy, Con-Agra. 
The list is endless going to places like Sanora, Mexico and so forth. 
So we need a trade model that has an ethic. 

Mr. SHERMAN. The time for the gentlewoman from Ohio has ex-
pired. I will invite the witness to respond for the record. I will 
point out that I am sure there are no Champion spark plugs in 
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Japanese cars on the roads in Japan, and the trade relationship or 
deficit with our NAFTA partners as identified in the chart at the 
far left at the far end of the room, that is the one with the big line 
going south to over a $130 billion trade deficit. 

It is typical that we recognize different parties in rotating order, 
but it has been pointed out to me that our two Republican mem-
bers here are both members of the subcommittee, and so I am 
going to ask the gentleman from Maine to be patient, and recognize 
two Republicans in order, starting with a senior member of this 
Congress, the gentleman from Illinois, Mr. Manzullo. 

Mr. MANZULLO. Thank you very much. I appreciate the both of 
you being here. I was asked the question: What do you think of Lou 
Dobbs? And I said, I agree with a lot of his answers but I agree 
with 100 percent of his questions, and you have to ask the right 
questions in order to open up a debate, in order to move toward 
a solution of something, and Lou, I really appreciate that. 

Ambassador Hills, my seat was formerly occupied by your good 
friend, Len Martin, and you are familiar with our Congressional 
district. We have lost about 14,000 manufacturing jobs in our dis-
trict, and through all types of reasons, et cetera. The biggest reason 
was in 1980 when we led the nation with 25 percent unemploy-
ment because of the currency, and our machine tool industry took 
a gigantic hit. 

But what I want to ask the question, I have voted for every sin-
gle free trade agreement this Congress has come up with, not that 
they are perfect. They are far from perfect but they are better than 
the alternative, and I have gotten in trouble from a lot of people 
who say, well Manzullo, because you asked tough questions like a 
friend of mine, you sound like a protectionist, and I am not, and 
I do not think Mr. Dobbs is either because he is looking for parity, 
he is looking for fairness, and he is looking for countries that do 
not cook the currency, and he is looking for a country that has the 
wherewithal to stand up and say, if we think manufacturing is im-
portant in this country, we are not going to tolerate any longer 
what China is doing on purposely manipulating the currency and 
with a country that does not have the backbone to do something 
about it. 

Now I signed on to a bill last year brought by two protectionists, 
Congressman Ryan from Ohio and Congressman Hunter from Cali-
fornia. It is now called the Ryan-Hunter bill, and it does two 
things. It says manipulation of currency or misalignment of cur-
rency is a basis for countervailing duty against the offending coun-
try, and the second part of the bill is what I had authored last 
year, and that says that it changes the definition. 

Now to show manipulation or misalignment of currency, you 
have to show both a bilateral and a global surplus by the offending 
country. Our bill changes that to show either/or in order to put into 
effect any penalties that would come against a country that manip-
ulates or misaligns its currency, and my question to you, Ambas-
sador Hills, is why would not free traders be in favor of strong 
measures to stop the cooking the currency that continues and to 
put in effect trade rules under WTO and enforceable WTO similar 
to the Ryan-Hunter bill which I just described? 
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Ambassador HILLS. I do not think free traders are opposed to 
rules governing currency. It is sometimes difficult at a hearing to 
talk about one segment of policy as being responsible for things 
that go far beyond. We really have to balance all the issues that 
we are dealing with and then come out and deal with the issues 
that are important. I would like to see East Asia have their cur-
rency respond to market forces, and I think that Secretary Paulson 
is working hard on that, and I applaud him for it. 

I think manipulation of currency does destroy the benefits that 
we derive from trade so that we want to work on that but trade 
is just one element, currency is another element, and we talk about 
foreign policy which is the province of this. 

Mr. MANZULLO. Yes, but it is a huge part of it because the guys 
that make the semiconductors, for example, they have been wiped 
out. Just wiped out. The guys that make the motherboards in this 
country. I have got a constituent back home, strong Republican, 
great free trader, and he says, ‘‘Congressman, let me tell you what 
the Chinese are doing with regard to the very item that I am man-
ufacturing.’’

And he said, ‘‘If you got rid of that currency manipulation, I 
could be 30 percent cheaper or at least 30 percent more economi-
cally interested in the ability to compete against the Chinese, and 
yet no one seems to do anything about that currency.’’ I think it 
is huge. It goes to the issue of fairness. 

Ambassador HILLS. The question is: Could the Chinese permit a 
30 percent appreciation of their currency overnight? 

Mr. MANZULLO. It does not have to be overnight. We need to go 
in the right direction. 

Ambassador HILLS. And that is the issue of timing. It has appre-
ciated 6 percent last year. It will probably appreciate another 6 
percent this year. One of the things you have to worry about is if 
China were to implode all the things we are talking about today 
would seem insignificant. 

Mr. MANZULLO. When you have lost thousands of workers be-
cause of cooking the currency in China, their world has already im-
ploded. 

Ambassador HILLS. I agree with you that the currency is out of 
line. 

Mr. MANZULLO. But I agree with you also. 
Ambassador HILLS. And I agree that we want to work to get 

market forces shaping currency not only in China but it must be 
followed by the East Asian currencies, and the question is: How 
fast can we move in the right direction? 

Mr. MANZULLO. Thank you. Appreciate that. 
Mr. SHERMAN. Thank you. I am sure that we will allow the Chi-

nese to cheat for only another decade, and only lose a few tens of 
thousands of jobs wrongfully before we finally do something about 
it. 

Ms. KAPTUR. Mr. Chairman, down at the right. 
Mr. SHERMAN. Yes. 
Ms. KAPTUR. Would the gentleman yield for 5 seconds? 
Mr. SHERMAN. I yield for 5 seconds. 
Ms. KAPTUR. That is exactly the path we followed with Japan 

and look where it has gotten us. The yen-dollar never corrected. 
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Mr. SHERMAN. The voice of experience. At this point, I am going 
to indicate that we do not really have time for a second round of 
questions. Just 10 seconds and I will be with you. I will recognize 
you. But what we will do is we will allow each of the witnesses a 
2-minute closing statement, if you have a few points you would like 
to make at the end, but we do have two questioners to go, and the 
first is the very patient gentleman from Texas, Mr. Poe. 

Mr. POE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you both for being 
here. Mr. Dobbs, I did not know you could get to Washington from 
that remote area of Mississippi that you were in last night. So con-
gratulations however you came. And I also want to thank you for 
what you do because I really think you have the pulse on America, 
especially the people of America on the issue of the border. So you 
are to be congratulated for that. 

With the open borders of course we bring in the cheap plantation 
labor of people who work on the illegal cash economy, and it affects 
us, as you have said so often, to the detriment of Americans and 
even legal immigrants. A lot of anecdotal stories, but I have a con-
stituent that runs a little carpet place. He lays carpet in houses, 
and all of his workers are legal immigrants. The guy down the 
street hires illegals. Deals on the cash economy, and my friend is 
going out of business because he cannot compete with other immi-
grants, but they are illegally in the country all because of the cash 
economy and the things you have talked about. 

We talk about trade deficit. Well we have to add the trade deficit 
to Mexico of the $20 billion in remittances that immigrants in this 
country send to Mexico every year. Second highest source of income 
from Mexico or to Mexico behind cruel oil sales that they make on 
the world market. NAFTA has not been the savior we all thought 
it would be. 

The comment is always made, well we need the illegals because 
they will do jobs Americans will not do. That is a myth. They will 
do jobs that Americans will not do for that wage, and if Americans 
have the opportunity to work for a fair wage they will take those 
jobs, and I think that this is a myth of folks who say we have to 
import the illegals. And one other comment before I get to my ques-
tion. 

We hear the raids on Swift and some of these other businesses 
and deporting the illegals. It would seem to me that if we went to 
those CEOs that knowingly hire illegals and we carted them off in 
handcuffs before TV cameras they would know who they hire and 
make sure that they hire legal immigrants and American citizens. 
It is all about money. We are talking about trade but what we are 
talking about is money. Follow the money trail. Who is making the 
buck, and I would hope that we could keep American economy 
going with fair trade practices and helping our neighbors first. 

I went to China in 1991. I do not think China is a neighbor, and 
I sure do not think they are a friend, and they told me in 1991 that 
we will defeat America economically, and they may be fulfilling 
that prophecy. Question: How would you deal with China and the 
way they cheat? Mr. Dobbs and then Ambassador Hills. 

Mr. DOBBS. I am a little less patient perhaps than this adminis-
tration and others. Frankly, I do not see any reason for gradualism 
on matters of what Congresswoman Kaptur called an ethic in our 
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trade policy. We have compromised our national values, our na-
tional interests, our fundamental values in the way in which we 
conducted our foreign policy in this country, the way in which we 
have conducted our trade policy. 

It is to me laughable to watch the Treasury Secretary, Mr. 
Paulson, fly off to Beijing after having I suppose in Washington 
terms excoriated the Chinese from manipulating their currency and 
being just awfully unfair and then show up in Beijing with big 
smiles and less than idle threats. The fact is that this is not a Chi-
nese problem. This is an American problem. 

We have responsibility for the way we conduct our policies, and 
we should hold accountable and responsible those officials both in 
Congress and in this administration, any administration, who fail 
to understand the diminishment of the national interest and when 
they are pursuing trade policies. 

China is not manipulating the RMB or the Yuan as some sort of 
clever, covert tactic. It is documented. It is obvious. It is trans-
parent. One of the few things that is transparent in their policies, 
and what is also transparent is the United States Government 
seems to think that an orderly loss of American capital and mount-
ing debt in excess of $230 billion a year makes us some sort of 
highly sophisticated and responsible nation state. 

Meanwhile we are devastating our workers. We are continuing to 
add to our debt, and I frankly think the idea that there is some 
great credit in the international trading system for being patient 
with people who are—as you put it, it is all about money—reaching 
into your pocket. It is far more important for us to understand 
what that deficit represents, and that deficit represents a nation 
that cannot even clothe itself. 

Ninety-six percent of our clothing in this country is produced 
abroad, 80 percent of our computers and free traders at any cost 
will tell you, this is a technology economy. We have got to go with 
this direction. It will all be better. 

As the Congresswoman from Ohio said, this story is no different 
today in Japan than it was 20, 25 years ago. The only difference 
is that people are focusing on China to the exclusion of Japan. The 
imbalances are marked. They are destructive, and we do not have 
time for this nonsense. 

Now the other question we have got to ask, it seems to me in 
the question of the exchange rate with China, is: What is the elas-
ticity of those goods and serves we are bringing in? I frankly am 
one of those folks who say, better be careful of what you ask for 
because the fact is we are absolutely dependent on those goods, 
both psychically and in real terms, in terms of computers and so 
forth. I do not know that if we would see a 40 percent appreciation 
of the price of those goods that we would see a diminishment in 
the demand of them by American consumers, and that is very con-
cerning. 

We have so mismanaged our trade policies for 30 years that we 
are in—and if I may use the expression—one hell of a mess, and 
there has to be an awakening because the effects are real. The re-
sponses have to be well-considered, and I think they are urgent, 
and incrementalism is not an appropriate path to follow. 
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Mr. SHERMAN. Thank you. The gentleman’s time has expired, 
and now I would like to recognize the most patient gentleman in 
the room, the gentleman from Maine. 

Mr. MICHAUD. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, for allowing 
me to sit here first of all, but I really appreciate all your support 
in helping us fight for fair trade deals. I believe in open markets 
but I also believe strongly we have got to change the way the rules 
of trade have been operating, and I know, Ambassador, you men-
tioned earlier that trade policy does not cure diseases. It is for eco-
nomic prosperity. 

My concern is economic prosperity for whom? But also when you 
look at does it cure diseases, not it probably does not but what it 
has done it has caused for those who are affected by layoffs because 
of our poor trade deals, it has caused divorces, it has caused drug 
and alcohol abuse, it has caused individuals who I have known per-
sonally who worked in the mill for 20 years who got laid off be-
cause of unfair trade policy 50 years old end up in a hospital with 
a heart attack. Not only have they lost their jobs, they are unable 
to get unemployment because they cannot work because they are 
in the hospital. 

I want to thank you, Mr. Dobbs, for speaking out on this issue, 
and helping educate the American public of how devastating these 
trade policies can be for our economy, and I have a couple of quick 
questions. The first is: Fast track delegation, what are your 
thoughts on that? Should Congress reauthorize fast track? My 
question for Ambassador Hills—and I read your statement actually 
twice—and I am just amazed at your statement when you said the 
results have been spectacular, and I come to realize after reading 
it twice that we do not hang around in the same circles. 

I worked in the mill for over 28 years at Great Northern Paper 
Company. Ambassador Hills has been a principle negotiator for 
NAFTA. NAFTA has devastated Maine’s economy that has lost 
over 23 percent of our manufacturing base alone in the last 4 or 
5 years. In your testimony you proclaim that trade has greatly 
helped our economy but you also say that workers’ frustration is 
at an all time high, and I know this personally having worked at 
the mill. 

In one of our labor market areas we had over 33 percent unem-
ployment rate. These workers do believe that trade policies have 
crippled our economy. So my question for you, Ambassador Hills, 
is since you negotiated NAFTA and it might have seemed right at 
the time, seeing what NAFTA has done, would you renegotiate 
NAFTA again, and how would you change NAFTA if at all? Ambas-
sador Hills. 

Ambassador HILLS. I think the North American Free Trade 
Agreement has permitted the integration of our economies. It did 
not create the jobs that were projected in Mexico I think largely be-
cause of the peso crisis that was exactly the same year following 
the ratification of the NAFTA. There are some things that the Gov-
ernment of Mexico should do. For example, they could take two 
pages from our book that would stimulate growth. One is the high-
way system. The south of Mexico is literally cut off from the north; 
the north grows 10 times faster than the south. And the second is 
the GI bill of rights. Mexico has a deficit of education. Were they 
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to address these issues, I think Mexico would be much better off. 
Clearly the NAFTA has been an enormous success with Canada, 
and our trade has exploded. Are there problems in the hemisphere? 
Absolutely. Can we address them? I think we can. I think we have 
to be very careful to lay all blame at the door of the NAFTA or look 
to any single policy as being a cure for the problems. These are 
complicated issues. 

Mr. MICHAUD. Mr. Dobbs, should we renew fast track, and if so, 
should it be changed? 

Mr. DOBBS. Absolutely not. I hate to equivocate but I think the 
idea of this Congress continuing to cede its constitutional author-
ity, prerogative and responsibility to the executive is absolute non-
sense. Again, the idea of 31 consecutive years of deficit, record defi-
cits, and whether we are talking about Maine, Ohio or any number 
of States, a majority of States in this country, that have seen the 
ill effects of what many corporate elites believe has been a bene-
ficial relationship as a result of NAFTA or other bilateral regional 
and multilateral trade agreements. 

It is incredible to me that this Congress would even consider rel-
egating that authority to this President or any other in point of 
fact. The idea that Ambassador Hills would speak as so many do 
of the integration of our economies in reference to the North Amer-
ican Free Trade Agreement should send chills down the spines of 
everyone in this room and in this Congress and every American in 
my opinion. 

NAFTA was not about the integration of economies and societies 
or the creation of a customs union. That is precisely the intent of 
this administration. It is the intent of a number of our corporate 
and bureaucratic and academic elites in this country. I would urge 
this Congress to maintain great vigilance of what is being done in 
the name of the security and prosperity partnership and NAFTA. 
The potential for greater, greater calamity exists. 

But I would also again just say I cannot imagine a circumstance 
in which approval of fast track authority or trade promotion au-
thority is either constitutional or responsible or reasonable or in 
the interest of anyone in this country given 31 years of history. 

Mr. MICHAUD. Thank you very much. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. SHERMAN. Thank you. Nothing would please me more than 

to do a second round but we have an outstanding second panel that 
we also want to hear from. So as I promised, I would like to give 
the two witnesses a couple of minutes to sum up should they wish 
to. Excuse me. The gentleman has snuck in. We have got one more 
questioner. We are about to learn more during the next 5 minutes. 
The gentleman from New York is recognized. 

Mr. MEEKS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I have been listening 
on and off, running in and out of meetings, and listening to the 
hearing that is taking place here, and it has been a very inform-
ative hearing listening to Ambassador Hills and Mr. Dobbs, and 
there is one thing that I think that we can all concur on and that 
is that there is a lot of reason for American workers to be con-
cerned. 

When we look at health care and we need to find a way that we 
can deal with health care costs, because when we look at competi-
tion, for example, with a number of foreign companies where they 
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have national health care policies so their employees do not have 
to worry about that burden, and our companies do, and we have 
got to make sure that every American has that health care. 

When you look at our savings rate, which is much less than 
many people all over the world that is growing and we look at our 
pensions and the problem with pensions, we have to say that there 
is indeed a lot of room for the American workers to be concerned. 
But to my point of view, we cannot blame all of that on trade, and 
I think that we have got to look at it because, when I hear that 
we are becoming—sometimes it is like history repeating itself and 
we could be back in the 1921 or the 1920s when there was that 
same kind of fear. 

I know I was young—too young—and most I think everybody in 
this room was too young to remember when President Warren G. 
Hardin’s inaugural speech delivered on Friday, March 4, 1921, but 
his argument sounded much like what we hear today. He feared for 
America’s industrial eminence, and warned that American factories 
could not meet the low wage European and Asian competition. 

We have come a long way since that time but that fear of com-
petition I think still remains, and from what I am hearing today 
this committee is talking about, and I think talk and conversation 
and dialogue is good. But based on the testimony that I have been 
able to review, one of the biggest points from some of the wit-
nesses, the witnesses that we have heard and I am sure that we 
are going to hear later on in the second panel, seems to be that 
trade deficit amount to severe loss of jobs, and there are certainly 
financial issues involved with a very large deficit but I cannot see 
how it is purely a jobs and trade matter. Purely. 

What about the important issue of—as I indicated—how low the 
U.S. savings issue, and I also heard the discussion clearly about 
the issue of currencies which I think is tremendously important, 
and it is something that we have address. When we began running 
deficits in the 1970s as our savings rate went down, and at that 
time we had 70 million private sector jobs or so, and now there are 
115 million. So it seems to me that there is more to this than just 
trade. 

Despite the impression that some give to say that the trade try 
to give Americans factory health is measured by the amount of 
goods produced, and when you talk about recording record highs 
now show now above $1.5 trillion in 2005 and probably $1.6 trillion 
in 2006. Not by people needed to produce these goods but the U.S. 
share of world manufacturing is quite stable. 

See to me what is happening in some of this is the more efficient 
that we become with technology—and we do not talk about the 
number of jobs that we are losing because of that efficiency—and 
technology but yet we do not want to stop technology. When I think 
of my State, I come from New York, there once was jobs where in-
dividuals operated elevators. Those jobs do not exist. 

There once were individuals. We needed all bank tellers. Now we 
have ATMs. There once were individuals that would do bridges, go 
into the tolls. Now we have got EZ Pass. And you can go on and 
on and on about the jobs and even in building automobiles there 
were many more people needed to build an automobile but now 
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with automation there is many less people needed to build auto-
mobiles. 

So there is a multiple reasons why I think that we are losing 
some jobs, and we need to take all of that into account I think and 
not just simply say that the reason why we are losing jobs is based 
upon trade because then it becomes a danger, a danger, and I think 
that, Mr. Dobbs, you are absolutely correct in this. What is our for-
eign policy with reference to Latin America? It is not articulable. 

We do not know what it is really, really what it is, but if we had 
a focus policy along with trade, because trade is not going to be the 
one instrument that is going to lead to greater success for every-
one. It is just one of the tools that could be utilized because I note 
this: It is easy—I see I am out of time. 

So I just will end on this. The debates that I have seen here are 
involving trade since I have been a member of the House. When 
it dealt with basically industrialized nations of the world, they 
passed very easily. There has not been a problem. But when we 
begin to talk about trade agreements with underdeveloped coun-
tries of the world, those who want to get into the markets, those 
have been much more difficult to engage in and to get passed here, 
and they are the ones who probably need trade agreements more 
than anyone else. 

Mr. SHERMAN. Thank you. The gentleman’s time has expired. At 
this point, what I would like each witness to do is to sum up for 
2 minutes. That will give you a chance either to address the com-
ments of the gentleman from New York or more generally the 
issues of this hearing. Start with Ambassador Hills. 

Ambassador HILLS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I thought the 
gentleman from New York’s points are very well taken, and I hope 
his colleagues on this committee will listen closely. There is no 
question that—as I mentioned in my testimony—in manufacturing 
technology has transformed it. With 22 percent fewer workers, we 
are producing 30 percent more output, and that output we are all 
enjoying but we have got to deal with the concerns of the workers. 

You asked the question head-on, should you endorse trade pro-
motional authority, and I hope so strongly that you do. I disagree 
with my colleague at this table. We need to keep open markets. Let 
me say again with 5 percent of the people we are producing 25 per-
cent of our work. If you want to deal with the deficit, cut the budg-
et deficit and increase spending, open up markets and encourage 
flexible exchange rates. 

Eighty percent of our deficit is with countries that we do not 
have trade agreements with. Only 20 percent of our deficit is with 
countries where we do have free trade agreements. So let us keep 
the markets open, gain the wealth that we get from the open mar-
kets, and use some of that wealth to deal with the concerns that 
have obviously been front and center on this hearing, and I thank 
you for including me on your witness list. 

Mr. SHERMAN. Mr. Dobbs. 
Mr. DOBBS. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, thank 

you for the opportunity to be here. The Congressman from New 
York suggesting that there are a lot of issues that are interrelated 
is exact. Whether we talk about health care, you all are confronted 
with a Hobson’s choice. 
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If you look at what has happened to corporate America and its 
provision as a primary provider of health care insurance, you either 
start talking about universal coverage or socialized medicine from 
one spectrum of the political environment or you are looking at 
simply abandoning any responsibility for it. Those are the choices 
that you face. That we all face. With 48 million people in this coun-
try without health care insurance and the number rising, it is 
going to be obviously very urgent on your agenda. 

But in terms of trade and with that perspective, the reason that 
we have health care insurance in this country is because of the ef-
forts of organized labor and history should not be in any way re-
vised. The principal countervailing influence to the awesome lob-
bying, legislative and electoral power of corporate America has 
been organized labor. 

The fact that as Ambassador Hills says that we have seen a 22 
percent reduction in the number of people required to produce in 
this country is correct. Produced 30 percent more goods. But there 
is another factor at work, and that is again the awesome produc-
tivity of the American worker. No one, in my judgment, in this 
country needs to fear about the ability of the American worker to 
compete. What we should all fear is destroying the American work-
er’s quality of life and standard of living because before us is the 
trade policies that Congress and successive administrations have 
followed. 

Middle class workers with all that has been won, hard won by 
initially and throughout organized labor, by the productivity of the 
American worker, who by the way over the course of the past 30 
years when we talk about the wealth that is being created we 
should take note that the American worker has added a month to 
his and her work year above and beyond that of their European 
counterparts. 

The only thing we should fear is that we do not serve the na-
tional values, the fundamental values of this country, and that is 
equality, opportunity, a quality of economic opportunity and edu-
cational opportunity, and a quality of individual rights, all of which 
have not been served by the trade policies we have followed over 
the course of the past 30 years, and I fervently hope that, Mr. 
Chairman, this Congress will mark the turning point in the history 
of this great country. I appreciate the opportunity to be with you. 

Mr. SHERMAN. Thank you, and thank you for what you do every 
day to try to put this country on the right course for taking care 
of middle class families and standing up for our national interests. 
Thank you both for coming before us, and we will now move on to 
the second panel. 

Mr. DOBBS. Thank you. 
Ambassador HILLS. Good to see you. 
Mr. DOBBS. Ambassador, good to see you. 
Mr. SHERMAN. I see two members in the room who did not give 

an opening statement at the beginning of the first panel. You gen-
tlemen can give an opening statement at the beginning of the sec-
ond panel if you desire. If you will give me some indication as to 
whether you want to do that. 

[Pause.] 
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Mr. SHERMAN. Let us now introduce our second panel. They are 
a little less famous than our first panel but no less knowledgeable 
and no less committed to our national interest. First I will intro-
duce Thea Lee, Assistant Director for International Economics in 
the Public Policy Department of the AFL–CIO. Ms. Lee serves on 
the State Department Advisory Committee on International Eco-
nomic Policy. I am not sure State always listens to your advice, Ms. 
Lee, and the Export/Import Bank Advisory Committee. 

Here perhaps to tell us that we should not just continue to follow 
the same policies we have over the last 10 years with the results 
illustrated behind me, Ms. Lee. 

STATEMENT OF MS. THEA LEE, POLICY DIRECTOR, AFL–CIO 

Ms. LEE. Thank you so much, Mr. Chairman, members of the 
subcommittee. I appreciate this opportunity to be here today on be-
half of the 10 million working men and women of the AFL–CIO on 
this very important and interesting topic: Is current U.S. trade pol-
icy successfully promoting American policy objectives at home and 
around the world? I think the conversation in the earlier panel was 
very instructive on this issue. 

One of the questions that we should be looking at is: Has trade 
policy with its own narrow set of objectives and concerns actually 
replaced foreign policy for the United States? Have we gotten con-
fused and thought that if we put in place free trade agreements 
that we have done our duty in terms of our relationships with 
other countries? 

We in the AFL–CIO would argue that U.S. trade policy has failed 
in almost every important dimension. It has failed to create good 
jobs and healthy communities at home. It has failed to foster equi-
table, democratic and sustainable development abroad. It has failed 
to safeguard our long-term national security interests, and it has 
utterly failed to ensure that American producers and workers are 
able to compete successfully in the global economy. 

We welcome the focus today on the connections between trade 
and foreign policy. Foreign policy objectives are often invoked to 
garner support for free trade agreements, and these arguments 
sound very compelling on the face of it. Do we want more friends 
and less poverty around the world? Of course we do. The question 
is whether current trade policies have achieved that important 
goal. 

People argue that free trade will automatically bring prosperity 
to our trading partners. That was certainly the argument in the 
NAFTA debate in the early 1990s: Once we have prosperity, that 
will solve all the problems that have been raised. It will enhance 
democracy, reduce poverty, strengthen the rule of law, end workers’ 
rights and human rights abuses, and provide resources to clean up 
the environment. With all these problems solved, it is argued, U.S. 
friendships and alliances will be strengthened, pressure for illegal 
immigration will be lessened and terrorist tendencies will be eradi-
cated. 

If all those things in fact happened, then you could make an ar-
gument that U.S. trade policy was serving our foreign policy objec-
tives. Unfortunately, trade policy has not uniformly delivered on 
these promises, and in too many cases it has had the opposite ef-
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fect. We now have 13 years of data and experience with NAFTA, 
11 years with the World Trade Organization and 5 years with 
China joining the World Trade Organization after a fairly bitter de-
bate in the U.S. Congress around permanent normal trade rela-
tions. 

In each of these cases I think we have seen—as was talked about 
in the earlier panel—that many of the glowing promises made on 
behalf of these policies failed particularly with respect to U.S. job 
creation at home, with U.S. competitiveness, that we were sup-
posed to use NAFTA to improve U.S. competitiveness with the rest 
of the world. That did not work out, as Chairman Sherman said. 
In fact, our trade deficit with the whole world has increased tenfold 
since 1991. 

And I think one of the key issues for us is that we have sent con-
fusing and mixed messages with our trade policies. We have over-
looked important American values and objectives in the search of 
corporate-driven trade deals, and with these deals we are making 
friends. 

It may be true that we are making friends in developing coun-
tries with the corporate elite and with dictatorships, but we have 
alienated ordinary workers and farmers, and we see that time and 
time again as we propose these trade agreements often sold here 
as almost a gift to these poor developing countries, something that 
should help workers in those countries, and tens of thousands of 
workers and farmers and teachers and students come out in the 
streets to protest against these free trade agreements. I believe 
that is contrary to our national interests. 

We have not used our trade relationship with China to press for 
democratic reforms and respect for human and worker rights. Our 
trade policy with China has been focused on the concerns of multi-
national corporations, helping them to move production to China 
and ensuring that they do not face regulations, taxes or other con-
ditions that they do not want to see. Those multinational corpora-
tions have in fact avoided confronting the Chinese Government 
over any kind of unwelcome concerns, like human rights, democ-
racy and worker rights. 

In fact, we have seen in a recent report put out by Global Labor 
Strategies that American multinational corporations represented in 
some cases by the American Chamber of Commerce have in fact 
gone to China and lobbied the Chinese Government against labor 
law reforms that would protect Chinese workers, even minimal 
labor law reforms that go in the right direction. So I think again 
that belies the idea that our trade policy is serving our national ob-
jectives. 

In the Middle East we have seen geopolitical concerns have driv-
en a series of free trade agreements with countries that lack basic 
democratic rights and do not allow workers the basic human rights 
in the work place, particularly the right to organize and bargain 
collectively, and what we see here is a conflict and mixed signals 
between rewarding these countries that have abysmal human 
rights records with market access, while our rhetoric promotes 
democratic values. 

And the same kind of concern we have with Colombia where the 
USTR recently finished negotiations, and this is a country with the 
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worst record in the world with respect to worker rights. It is the 
most dangerous place to be a trade union activist. More than 2,000 
union officers and rank and file members have been brutally and 
systematically murdered since 1991 for exercising their right to or-
ganize, and fewer than 30 people have been convicted of murder in 
any of these cases. 

You ask yourself: How is it that the U.S. Government chose to 
reward this particular country with a free trade agreement, with 
permanent market access to the United States? What kind of 
human rights record would a government need for the Bush admin-
istration to find that a country was not a good candidate for a free 
trade agreement? 

Let me say in terms of the trade deficit that our national inter-
ests are not well served by the enormous and growing imbalance 
between our imports and exports. This creates global economic in-
stability and vulnerability for the United States on many, many 
fronts. We have an over dependence on imports, even of crucial 
military imports, and we have a financial dependence on govern-
ments which are often hostile to our interests. 

For globalization to live up to its promise to improve the lives of 
workers and the poor, not just the wealthy and the powerful here 
and around the world, we need an entirely new set of rules and in-
stitutions. We have argued for a long time on the need for enforce-
able ILO core labor standards in the core of every trade agreement, 
enforceable environmental standards and a reform of the invest-
ment, government procurement, services, and intellectual property 
rights provisions. Of course, we have argued how important it is 
that we need to protect U.S. trade laws. 

I know we are going to face a fast track debate. It has been dis-
cussed a couple of times this morning already. We will vigorously 
oppose any attempt to extend the current flawed fast track author-
ity. We simply cannot continue the status quo approach, which re-
sulted in bad trade agreements, lost jobs, stagnating wages and a 
spiraling trade deficit. I thank you for your attention. I look for-
ward to your questions. 

[The prepared statement of Ms. Lee follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF MS. THEA LEE, POLICY DIRECTOR, AFL–CIO 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members of the Subcommittee, for the opportunity 
to testify today on behalf of the more than ten million working men and women of 
the AFL–CIO on the important question you have posed: Is current U.S. trade policy 
successfully promoting American policy objectives at home and around the world? 

We would argue that U.S. trade policy has failed in almost every important di-
mension. It has failed to create good jobs and healthy communities at home. It has 
failed to foster equitable, democratic, and sustainable development abroad. It has 
failed to safeguard our long-term national security interests. And it has utterly 
failed to ensure that American producers and workers are able to compete success-
fully in the global economy. 

Foreign policy objectives are often invoked to garner support for free trade agree-
ments and other proposed trade policies. On the simplest level, it is often argued 
that ‘‘free trade’’ will automatically bring prosperity to our trading partners, espe-
cially those in the developing world, and that prosperity in turn will solve a host 
of related problems: enhance democracy, reduce poverty, strengthen the rule of law, 
end workers’ rights and human rights abuses, and provide resources to clean up the 
environment. 

With all these problems solved, it is argued, U.S. friendships and alliances will 
be strengthened, pressure for illegal immigration will be lessened, and terrorist ten-
dencies will be eradicated. Unfortunately, trade policy has not uniformly delivered 
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1 See, e.g, Forero, Juan, , Paramilitary Scandal Takes Colombian Elite by Surprise, Wash. 
Post, Feb. 22, 2007. ‘‘In all, eight congressman are now jailed, and investigators have questioned 
dozens of other nation and local lawmakers about suspected ties to death squads.’’ Amnesty 
International USA reports that the Attorney General is investigating over 100 cases of collabo-
ration. 

on these promises; in many cases, it has had the opposite effect. Until we dramati-
cally overhaul the content of our trade policies, we will not see the results we seek, 
either at home or abroad. 

In the Middle East, geopolitical concerns have driven a series of free trade agree-
ment negotiations with countries that lack basic democratic rights and that do not 
allow their workers to exercise fundamental human rights in the workplace, espe-
cially the right to organize and bargain collectively. These trade negotiations send 
mixed signals: on the one hand, we are rewarding countries with abysmal human 
rights records with market access, while our rhetoric abroad promotes ‘‘democratic 
values.’’

USTR recently concluded a free trade agreement with Colombia—a country with 
an atrocious record of violence against trade unionists and impunity for the per-
petrators of that violence. Colombia is the most dangerous country in the world in 
which to be a trade unionist. More than 2000 union officers and rank-and-file mem-
bers have been brutally and systematically murdered since 1991. Fewer than thirty 
people have been convicted of murder in any of these cases, and only one since 2004. 

In those cases where the perpetrator is known, government-supported para-
military organizations or the armed forces or police are most often responsible. Nu-
merous legislators, judges and senior government officials, many with close ties to 
President Alvaro Uribe, have been arrested or are being investigated for collabora-
tion with these right-wing paramilitary organizations.1 Designated as a ‘‘foreign ter-
rorist organization’’ by the U.S. State Department, Colombian paramilitaries have 
committed numerous atrocities and crimes, including massacres, murder, torture 
and trafficking illicit drugs into the United States. Again, our foreign policy and 
trade policy seem to be in conflict, rather than in harmony. 

What are the key foreign policy interests of the United States? Certainly, it is in 
our interest for our trading partners to grow and prosper—but to do so in an equi-
table and democratic way. Economic growth that enriches a tiny corporate or oligar-
chic elite, while the vast majority of the population lives in poverty, does not pro-
mote our interests, nor does it enhance global political stability. 

Supporting strong and vibrant democracies is certainly in the U.S. interest. 
Today, global solidarity on behalf of democracy, freedom of association and basic 
human rights is more important than ever. Across the world, totalitarian rulers 
combine the power of the state with the power of the market in powerful, new and 
non-democratic forms. New and old forms of dictatorship cynically use the backlash 
against the injustices of the global economy to consolidate their hold on power. 
There is an effort to disconnect corporations from the accountability of democratic 
governance through a ‘‘constitution’’ for global trade that only guarantees the rights 
of investors. And, too often, nationalist, fundamentalist and xenophobic reactions to 
this new economic regime generate disorder, violence and the grisly tactics of mod-
ern terror. 

Democracy is not easy. It cannot be exported at the end of a bayonet or a missile. 
Formal guarantees and institutions are vital, but are only a beginning. The words 
of democracy, expressed in charters and constitutions, must reflect the values and 
aspirations of the people. Understanding and respect for democratic values are built, 
person by person, organization by organization, in the fabric of civil society. Trade 
unions are an essential building block in that process. This is why we in the U.S. 
labor movement, together with our brothers and sisters in unions around the world, 
have worked so hard to insist that protection of core international workers’ rights 
must be a crucial component of international trade rules. 

U.S. national interests are not well served by the enormous—and growing—imbal-
ance between our imports and exports. Our trade deficit hit a staggering $764 bil-
lion in 2006. Real median wages and family income continue to stagnate, while pro-
ductivity growth soars. We have lost more than 3 million manufacturing jobs since 
2000—many of them to trade—and good white-collar jobs that pay well are increas-
ingly vulnerable. Estimates range from 14 million to 42 million service-sector jobs 
that could be subject to offshoring over the next decade—offsetting many of the 
promised benefits of trade liberalization. 

Our declining manufacturing capacity poses a serious and growing threat to both 
our economic and national security. The loss of millions of skilled jobs, the closure 
of nearly 40,000 manufacturing facilities and the exporting of design, engineering 
and research and development capacity mean the next innovation, the next genera-
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tion of products and the next investment will be made in other countries. At the 
same time, we are losing the capability to supply our military troops with ammuni-
tion, uniforms and other essential equipment in a timely and flexible manner. The 
offshoring of our manufacturing capacity is underwritten by a toxic brew of workers’ 
rights violations, lax environmental standards, currency manipulation and illegal 
subsidies that global corporations take advantage of. 

Decades of trade deficits—all record-breakers in recent years—have contributed to 
a mounting cumulative international debt, which now exceeds $3 trillion. This 
unsustainable debt has greatly increased our vulnerability to financial crises and 
speculative currency movements. And the U.S. image abroad has suffered as our 
government is increasingly perceived as imposing an anti-development, anti-worker 
trade agenda on behalf of our multinational corporations. Indeed, workers’ rights 
have not improved, and in some cases have worsened, in Central America, since 
CAFTA was put in place. Nor have the promised jobs materialized in most CAFTA 
signatories. It is no wonder that tens of thousands of workers and farmers have 
taken to the streets in Korea, Costa Rica and Thailand—among many other coun-
tries—to protest proposed trade deals put forward by the U.S. government. 

It doesn’t have to be this way. The movement of goods, services, money and people 
across national borders can and often does bring many benefits: increased economic 
growth and dynamism, as well as the beneficial spread of technology, culture and 
ideas across borders. The key missing part is how those benefits are distributed—
and how to resolve the uneasy compromise between enforceable international rules 
and democratic decision-making. 
The Promise of Globalization: New Rules for the Road 

For globalization to live up to its promise to improve the lives of workers and the 
poor, not just the wealthy and the powerful—here and around the world—we need 
an entirely new set of rules and institutions. 

We need global trade rules that link market access to strengthening protection 
for workers’ fundamental human rights, as laid out in the International Labor Orga-
nization’s (ILO) 1998 Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work: 
the freedom of association and the right to organize and bargain collectively, and 
prohibitions on child labor, forced labor and discrimination in employment. These 
must be enforceable requirements, subject to the same binding dispute settlement 
and enforcement mechanisms as commercial provisions. No government should gain 
a comparative advantage in global markets by offering to violate its own workers’ 
human rights—just to keep labor costs down. And no company should profit by tak-
ing advantage of vulnerable workers in one country to produce goods to sell to 
wealthy consumers in another. 

Similarly, international environmental commitments under multilateral environ-
mental agreements should be reaffirmed and protected in trade rules. Private inves-
tors must not have the right to challenge domestic environmental and public inter-
est laws and regulations before closed international tribunals—leaving taxpayers 
liable for huge payouts. 

We need to strike a better balance between domestic rule-making and inter-
national obligations—ensuring that trade rules do not threaten governments’ ability 
to provide affordable and high-quality public services or to regulate labor markets, 
the environment, public health and consumer safety. Trade agreements must not re-
quire privatization or deregulation as a condition of market access, nor should they 
obstruct developing countries’ right to address HIV/AIDS and other health crises 
through public access to essential medicines. Procurement provisions must not un-
dermine the ability of federal and state governments to use tax dollars to create and 
maintain good jobs, to promote economic opportunity and development and to 
achieve other legitimate social goals. Changes in our immigration laws should be 
made by Congress, not through irreversible commitments offered up in trade nego-
tiations. 

We need more transparency and much broader public participation in the negotia-
tion of trade rules, at both the national and international levels. Business is not the 
only constituency affected by trade and capital market liberalization, and it should 
not be the only non-government group at the table when these deals are cut. 
The Wrong Track: A Record of Failure 

On each of these fronts, our own government has let us down over and over again. 
Since 2001, the Bush administration has failed to seek meaningful protections for 
workers’ rights and environmental standards in free trade agreement negotiations 
with more than a dozen countries and at the World Trade Organization in multilat-
eral talks. 
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In fact, the administration recently proposed abandoning the internationally rec-
ognized ILO workers’ rights as a standard and replacing them with U.S. labor laws 
in the Peru, Colombia and Panama free trade agreements. This proposal would re-
place decades of expertise and jurisprudence and hard-won international tripartite 
consensus at the ILO with a vague standard that our trading partners should have 
labor laws that are generally equivalent to U.S. labor laws. This is an arbitrary, un-
workable and ill-conceived idea that would be an international embarrassment. 

At the same time, the administration has aggressively sought excessive trade 
rules on investment, intellectual property rights, government procurement and serv-
ice sector access on behalf of multinational corporations—heedless of the impact on 
workers, the poor or governments’ capacity to regulate. In fact, our trade regime 
pursues corporate rights while leaving other concerns off to the side of the road. 

The Bush administration has given America’s workers, farmers and producers few 
reasons to have confidence that it will fight for our interests in the international 
arena. The administration has failed to enforce our own trade laws, rejecting strong 
421 safeguard cases in defiance of the findings of the U.S. International Trade Com-
mission. It refused to even consider four separate Section 301 cases challenging Chi-
na’s violation of workers’ rights and currency manipulation. It has failed to effec-
tively enforce workers’ rights provisions in existing U.S. trade laws, including the 
generalized system of preferences and bilateral agreements. It has done far too little 
to protect our trade laws from international challenge, leading to erosion of those 
laws as we lose challenge after challenge at the WTO. 

President Bush has asked Congress to renew Fast Track (also called Trade Pro-
motion Authority) when it expires in June of this year. We will vigorously oppose 
any attempt to extend the current flawed Fast Track authority. We cannot simply 
continue the status quo approach, which has resulted in bad trade agreements, lost 
jobs, stagnating wages and a spiraling trade deficit. 

We welcome a national debate over how best to reform our trade policies—and 
how to strengthen the role of Congress in this important and contentious area. 
The Right Track 

The first step in any new trade policy must be a serious strategic review of exist-
ing trade agreements before the initiation of any new trade negotiations. We need 
to re-examine the content and performance of current agreements to measure their 
strengths and weaknesses and determine how we can do better in the future. Trac-
ing the actual trade and investment patterns that result from trade deals by sector 
and by state, as well as their impacts on employment, living standards, social regu-
lation and communities, would allow a much more nuanced debate about the actual 
outcomes of trade deals rather than their promised benefits. Such a review must 
also include recommendations on how to address problems in existing agreements, 
up to and including renegotiation. 

Second, Congress should have a role in choosing trade partners, which it does not 
have under our current set of rules. Congress should lay out ‘‘readiness criteria’’ to 
assess any potential trade agreement partner, including: the economic opportunities 
available for U.S. workers, firms and farmers; a country’s legal framework and en-
forcement regimes; a country’s compliance with ILO standards, multilateral environ-
mental agreements and fundamental human rights; and the existence of a demo-
cratic governance system. Only countries that meet these readiness criteria should 
be eligible for negotiations. With these rules, we would not have negotiated a trade 
agreement with Colombia, whose government is responsible, by act or omission, for 
the deaths of thousands of trade unionists. 

The third key element is to make the negotiating objectives laid out by Congress 
mandatory, rather than optional. Current Fast Track authority simply lists negoti-
ating objectives without any requirement that each objective be met. For labor in 
particular, this has yielded terrible results: the corporate sector’s objectives jump to 
the top of the list and ours limp along in last place. In fact, workers’ rights have 
been among our negotiating objectives for more than 30 years, with very little 
progress being made. The U.S. Trade Representative has consistently ignored 
Congress’s instructions with respect to protecting our trade laws and insisting on 
reciprocal market access, among many other things. These mandatory negotiating 
objectives should, at a minimum, address the issues listed above: labor, environ-
ment, investment, procurement, protecting our trade laws, intellectual property 
rights, services and immigration. 

Fourth, Congress must certify that an agreement has met all the mandatory ob-
jectives before the agreement can be signed. Without such certification, an agree-
ment will not receive expedited and preferential consideration and will be subject 
to amendment. 
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These represent only the most crucial changes that are needed to get our trade 
policy back on the right track. 
Getting all the Tracks Right: Trade Enforcement, FTA’s and Doha. 

Last month, the Treasury Department once again, in its biannual currency report 
to Congress, announced that it was unable to find any ‘‘technical violations’’ of the 
law by the Chinese government with respect to currency manipulation. Once again, 
the Secretary assured the members of the Senate Banking Committee that another 
high level strategic dialogue will change the situation. Frankly, the time for talk is 
over, and it is time to act. 

We have fully supported the introduction of H.R. 782, the Fair Currency Act, in 
the House. The AFL–CIO is grateful to Senators Stabenow, Bunning, Bayh, Snowe, 
Casey, and Levin for their leadership in introducing the companion bill in the Sen-
ate. We look forward to working with our business, farm and community allies on 
this important legislation. . 

The revived Doha Round of negotiations can only be greeted with pessimism. Un-
fortunately, the framework of the talks laid out in Doha in 2001 fails to address 
the concerns of working families, both in the United States and in developing coun-
tries. 

The key WTO issue for the labor movement is moving forward a constructive dis-
cussion about how the global trading system can strengthen international protec-
tions for workers’ rights. If WTO rules can be applied to protect copyrights and pat-
ents across national borders, judge whether national environmental or public health 
laws are legitimate, and pressure governments to eliminate or reform subsidy pro-
grams, then surely the WTO can clarify that no country should gain a competitive 
advantage by violating the human rights of its own workers. 

A second crucial issue not on the WTO agenda is currency manipulation. Even 
though WTO rules in principle forbid frustrating WTO commitments ‘‘through ex-
change action,’’ this provision has never been applied. The WTO’s failure to address 
this issue effectively strains the entire global trading system. Nor will the negotia-
tions address needed institutional reforms at the WTO, especially in the areas of 
transparency and accountability. 

While issues that labor would most like to see addressed by Doha are not even 
on the table, many issues of great concern are under discussion. U.S. trade and im-
migration laws are vulnerable, as many countries have expressed interest in weak-
ening our trade laws, and in obtaining new commitments to raise current limits on 
temporary entry visas. NAMA negotiations put enormous pressure on the few re-
maining industrial sectors with high tariffs—while offering little hope of progress 
on workers’ rights or significant reciprocal market access concessions. Services nego-
tiations threaten the viability and quality of some public services. 

Our nation no longer can continue with status quo trade policies. Those policies 
have failed—and failed miserably. They have failed our workers, our communities 
and our environment, and they pose a serious threat to our national security. 

We look forward to working with you over the coming years to meet these chal-
lenges. 

Congress must act now to reassert its voice and control over trade policy, which 
increasingly affects many areas of domestic policy. Without deep reform, we cannot 
come together to meet the many challenges we face as a nation.

Mr. SHERMAN. Thank you. I would hope that your AFL–CIO 
would go further than simply oppose fast track period but perhaps 
you will be able to get them there, at least fast track for this Presi-
dent rather than talking about putting conditions on it. Next I wel-
come Scott Paul, Executive Director of the Alliance for American 
Manufacturing. Mr. Paul directs research, public education and ad-
vocacy on issues impacting U.S. manufacturing including trade, 
currency valuation and energy. Mr. Paul. 

STATEMENT OF MR. SCOTT N. PAUL, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, 
ALLIANCE FOR AMERICAN MANUFACTURING 

Mr. PAUL. Mr. Chairman, members of the subcommittee, thank 
you very much for the opportunity to testify today. First, I would 
like to introduce you to the Alliance for American Manufacturing. 
We are a brand new partnership formed by some of America’s lead-
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ing manufacturers and their workers to explore challenging public 
policy topics such as trade. AAM works in a cooperative, non-
partisan way, bringing together labor and management, Demo-
crats, Republicans and Independents, to work for one goal: 
Strengthening American manufacturing, and therefore our nation’s 
economic and national security. 

My entire statement has been submitted for the record. I will 
briefly summarize it for you now. In the past, international trade 
has been a below-the-radar issue for most Americans but as the 
problems grow worse, that appears to be changing. Our nation’s 
flawed trade policy surreptitiously contributes to the anxiety and 
uncertainty many Americans feel about their jobs, their future and 
perhaps most importantly for them, their children’s future. 

Effective and meaningful trade policy can make a difference to 
the American people in the following ways: Whether tomorrow 
brings a layoff notice or a bonus; whether their community has a 
topnotch public school or one that is struggling to keep its doors 
open because the town’s factory, its largest source of tax revenue, 
shut down and shifted production to the People’s Republic of China; 
whether the jobs of the future for their children will be flipping 
hamburgers or careers in nanotechnology and advanced manufac-
turing; and whether their nation will have an industrial base that 
can best supply the critical materials that allow us to defend our-
selves or if we will be forced to depend on the goodwill of other 
countries to do that for us. 

For policymakers, the choices on trade are often presented as ab-
solutes, and you heard that from your previous panel. You are an 
enlightened ‘‘free trader’’ or a jingoistic ‘‘protectionist.’’ These labels 
are not helpful. In fact, they are misleading and divert our atten-
tion from the real truth. Open markets can benefit everyone—in-
vestors, consumers, companies and workers—but only if the rules 
are fair and only if those rules are aggressively enforced and appro-
priately enhanced. 

Free trade is a theory that exists only within the confines of 19th 
and 20th century economic textbooks, not in the real world of the 
21st century. You may hear from some theoreticians who will tell 
you that the trade deficit is somehow good for our economy, that 
this churning of the work force is the product of efficient cap-
italism, and that all of the layoffs and shifts of production abroad 
are inevitable in a 21st century where the world is really ‘‘flat.’’

The reality, Mr. Chairman, is vastly different. One-way trade re-
lationship with countries that disregard the rule of law as well as 
their international commitments have simple yet devastating con-
sequences: Lost American jobs and a declining manufacturing and 
innovation base. Conscious public policy choices and crimes of omis-
sion, the unwillingness of our trade bureaucracy and the World 
Trade Organization to enforce the rules, or even to apply new ones 
that were never negotiated, are damaging U.S. workers and busi-
nesses in every State. 

Our nation has lost more than 3 million manufacturing jobs over 
the past 6 years. More than 40,000 manufacturing facilities have 
shut down, not as the result of productivity gains, but as the result 
of unfair competition, and our annual trade deficit stands—as the 
chart shows here—at more than $764 billion. 
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The largest single source of our trade woes is China, with whom 
we have a record $233 billion annual trade deficit. The shear size 
and structural nature of this deficit raises serious questions about 
its causes, including to what extent the deficit is driven by govern-
ment interventions in the Chinese economy. Company after com-
pany has been adversely affected by a Chinese Government policy 
that simply needs to be described for what it is—and in the way 
that Representative Poe describe it—cheating. 

China needs to be held accountable. It agreed to certain condi-
tions when it joined the World Trade Organization but time after 
time it has refused to grant the same kind of trade access to its 
markets that we provide to it, and it has engaged in unfair and 
predatory practices to increase its exports. Subsidies, dumping, cur-
rency manipulation, violation of labor rights, lax or nonexistent en-
vironmental enforcement are just some of the egregious practices 
that must be addressed. 

Quite literally, U.S. trade laws—including anti-dumping and 
countervailing duty laws—when enforced level the playing field, 
and allow us to remain competitive. The consequences of illegal 
trading practices to American manufacturers and workers are se-
vere. For example, a study that AAM will be releasing shortly 
found that American furniture manufacturers lost $330 million in 
revenue as a result of furniture illegally dumped into the United 
States market from China. That same study examined the United 
States steel industry, which as a result of illegal dumping of hot-
rolled steel from Japan, Brazil and Russia, lost more than $2.6 bil-
lion in revenue from 1996 to 1998. 

When other countries do not have to play by the same rules as 
U.S. manufacturers, the results are not only lost revenues but also 
lost jobs and a loss of economic security for American workers, 
their families and their communities. Imposing clear and direct 
penalties on those who cheat or break the law is vital to ensuring 
that there is a level playing field around the globe. The rules of 
international trade are just that, rules, not suggestions. 

Mr. Chairman, we depend on domestic manufacturing to supply 
our advanced materials for equipment like the joint strike fighter, 
the Bradley fighting vehicle, the Abrams tank and our Naval fleet. 
If we continue to lose our manufacturing base, our nation’s military 
could lose its primary source of strategic resources, and we as a na-
tion would become dangerously dependent upon foreign sources of 
supply. 

Just as our nation is seeking to achieve energy independence 
from the Middle East, we should also avoid becoming more depend-
ent on others to supply our national and homeland defense. AAM 
believes that America’s leadership in the information age does not 
mean that we have to accept defeat when it comes to manufac-
turing. On the contrary, the nation that has the ideas and innova-
tion as well as cutting edge technology and manufacturing is the 
nation that will win the global economic battles of the future. 

We look forward to working with you to ensure that we put into 
place trade policies that will allow manufacturing to thrive well 
into the 21st century. Mr. Chairman and members of the sub-
committee, thank you again for the opportunity to testify today. I 
am happy to answer any questions that you may have. 
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[The prepared statement of Mr. Paul follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF MR. SCOTT N. PAUL, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, ALLIANCE FOR 
AMERICAN MANUFACTURING 

Mr. Chairman and distinguished members of the subcommittee, I want to thank 
you for taking the time to study trade, foreign policy, and the American worker, and 
for inviting me to testify on behalf of the Alliance for American Manufacturing. I 
am honored to be before this subcommittee to discuss an issue of such importance 
to our economy and our national security. 

First, I would like to introduce the Alliance for American Manufacturing and our 
perspective on this topic. We are a brand new partnership formed by some of Amer-
ica’s leading manufacturers and their workers to explore challenging public policy 
topics such as trade, as well as health care, retirement, energy, currency valuation, 
and other issues of mutual concern. AAM works in a cooperative, non-partisan way, 
bringing together labor and management, Democrats, Republicans and independ-
ents, to work for one goal: strengthening American manufacturing and therefore our 
nation’s economic and national security. Our mission is to provide policymakers like 
you with useful analysis of the issues, as well as innovative policy ideas to move 
us toward effective solutions. 

In the past, international trade has been a ‘‘below the radar’’ issue for most Amer-
icans, but as the problems grow worse, that appears to be changing. Our nation’s 
flawed trade policy surreptitiously contributes to the anxiety and uncertainty many 
Americans feel about their jobs, their future, and perhaps most importantly for 
them, their children’s future. Effective and meaningful trade policy can make a dif-
ference to the American people in the following ways:

• Whether tomorrow brings the layoff notice or the holiday bonus;
• Whether their community has a top-notch public school, or one that is strug-

gling to keep it doors open because the town’s factory—its largest source of 
tax revenue—shut down and shifted production to the People’s Republic of 
China;

• Whether the jobs of the future for their children will be flipping burgers or 
careers in nanotechnology and advanced manufacturing; and

• Whether their nation will have an industrial base that can supply the critical 
materials that allow us to defend our nation, or if we will be forced to depend 
on the goodwill of other nations to do that for us.

For policymakers, the choices on trade are often presented as absolutes: you are 
an enlightened ‘‘free trader’’ or a jingoistic ‘‘protectionist.’’ Trade produces many 
‘‘winners’’ and a few unproductive, unskilled and unfortunate ‘‘losers’’ who must be 
retrained for the jobs of the future. You’ll hear arguments asserting that free trade 
is a ‘‘no brainer’’ and a ‘‘win-win.’’ These labels are not helpful. In fact, they are 
misleading and divert our attention from the real truth: open markets can benefit 
everyone—investors, consumers, companies, and workers—but only if the rules are 
fair and only if those rules are aggressively enforced and appropriately enhanced. 

Free trade is a theory that exists only within the confines of 19th and 20th Cen-
tury economic textbooks, not in the real world of the 21st Century, where labor arbi-
trage and the mobility of capital and investment encourage a race to the bottom, 
rather than strategies that will support sustained economic growth and broadly 
shared benefits, in industrialized as well as developing nations. You may hear from 
some theoreticians who will tell you that the trade deficit is somehow good for our 
economy, that this ‘‘churning’’ of the workforce is the product of efficient capitalism, 
and that all of the layoffs and shifts of production abroad are inevitable in a 21st 
Century where the world is really ‘‘flat.’’

The reality is vastly different. One-way trade relationships with countries that 
disregard the rule of law as well as their international commitments have simple 
yet devastating consequences: lost American jobs and a declining manufacturing and 
innovation base. Conscious policy choices and crimes of omission—the unwillingness 
of our trade bureaucracy and the World Trade Organization to enforce the rules or 
to apply new ones that were never negotiated—are damaging U.S. workers and 
businesses in every state in the nation. Our nation has lost more than 3 million 
manufacturing jobs over the past six years. More than 40,000 manufacturing facili-
ties have shut down. And our annual trade deficit stands at more than $764 billion. 
The Role of China 

The largest single source of our trade woes is China. The U.S. trade deficit with 
China skyrocketed for the sixth consecutive year in 2006, reaching a record high of 
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$233 billion, nearly one-third of the overall U.S. trade deficit. The sheer size and 
structural nature of this deficit raises serious questions about its causes, including 
to what extent the deficit is driven by government interventions in the Chinese 
economy. 

In particular, China maintains numerous policies including state-sponsored sub-
sidies aimed at promoting investment, exports and employment. Those policies have 
a direct role in increasing the U.S.-China trade imbalance and negatively affect the 
health of our domestically based manufacturers, service providers and farmers. 

When China became a member of the World Trade Organization, proponents ar-
gued that it would herald in a new age of opportunity and expand market opportu-
nities for U.S. companies. Unfortunately, China continues to follow a policy of ex-
port-led growth to build up its own manufacturing base at the expense of other 
countries. Almost 60 percent of China’s exports come not from Chinese firms, but 
from foreign-invested enterprises. Many of these companies set up operations hoping 
to serve the Chinese market, only to find a web of policies and practices to limit 
their opportunities there but incentives to export their products back to their home 
countries. 

Just a few months ago, the director of the Chinese Government’s State-owned As-
sets Supervision and Administration Commission (SASAC), announced a new policy 
that raises serious questions of governmental control, involvement and intervention 
in a number of major industries. In industries ranging from telecommunications to 
steel to machinery and many others, China’s leaders made it clear that the state 
will continue to exert its control, making it virtually impossible for American firms 
to compete. 

China also has provided massive subsidies to its companies to give them an ad-
vantage over U.S. farmers, workers and businesses trying to sell their products to 
China, as well as flooding our market with their products. Company after company 
has been adversely affected by a Chinese government policy that simply needs to 
be described for what it is: cheating. 

China needs to be held accountable. It agreed to certain conditions when it joined 
the World Trade Organization but, time after time, it has refused to grant the kind 
of trade access to its markets that we provide to it and has engaged in unfair and 
predatory practices to increase its exports. The result is one way free trade and, as 
noted above, skyrocketing trade deficits. Subsidies, dumping, currency manipula-
tion, violation of labor rights, lax or nonexistent environmental enforcement are just 
some of the egregious practices that must be addressed. 
The Importance of Enforcing Our Nation’s Trade Laws 

The inability, and in many cases the unwillingness, of policymakers in Wash-
ington to enforce current trade laws has allowed the deck to be stacked against U.S. 
manufacturers and workers. As a result, they have been forced to play by a different 
set of rules than their competitors. This has contributed to a loss of nearly three 
million manufacturing jobs since 2000 and the closing of more than 40,000 manufac-
turing facilities. 

Quite literally, U.S. trade laws—including anti-dumping and countervailing duty 
laws—when enforced, level the playing field and allow individual companies, farms 
and even whole industries in America to remain competitive. Some critics argue, 
however, that these trade laws are shortsighted in this era of globalization and that 
the end results of these laws are limits on consumer choice and thus higher prices. 

Now Congress is considering reauthorizing the President’s authority to negotiate 
free trade agreements. Further intensifying the discussion is the World Trade Orga-
nization’s Doha Development Round, the organization’s agenda associated with low-
ering trade barriers around the world. 

As debate continues, we should not lose sight of the stark reality that U.S. manu-
facturers and workers face when trade laws are not enforced. The consequences of 
illegal trading practices to American manufacturers and workers are severe. For ex-
ample:

• A study that AAM will be releasing shortly found that from 2001 to 2003 
American furniture manufacturers lost $333 million in revenue as a result of 
wooden bedroom furniture dumped into the U.S. market from China.

• That same study examined the U.S. steel industry, which as a result of the 
dumping of hot-rolled steel from Japan, Brazil and Russia, lost more than 
$2.6 billion in revenue from 1996 to 1998.

When other countries don’t have to play by the same rules as U.S. manufacturers, 
the results are not only lost revenues, but also lost jobs and a loss of economic secu-
rity for American workers, their families and their communities. The words of Bill 
Kortz, a longtime employee of U.S. Steel in Pennsylvania, say it best: 
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‘‘We’ve had half of our mill shut down because of that dumping. The impact has 
been traumatic. For every steelworker here, we provide enough opportunity and em-
ployment for seven other surrounding people outside our industry just to provide 
products and services to help sustain us. If they do away with the trade laws, we’re 
in trouble.’’

Michael Ursini, the president of a furniture company in Illinois, who has been 
forced to contend with illegally dumped imports from China, articulates the dev-
astating consequences: 

‘‘We’ve seen at least a 50 percent decrease in the sales of our case pieces, and 
I would say most of that would have to do with furniture being made in China.’’

In industries as diverse as garlic, honey, computer chips, cement, ball bearings, 
steel and many, many others, American businesses and workers—who are highly 
productive and efficient—are facing a torrent of subsidized products made by work-
ers overseas who are paid artificially low wages in deplorable conditions. There is 
nothing free about that sort of trade. American workers and businesses need rules 
that are fair to everyone, and they need those rules enforced. 

The reality is that enforcing the law works. Imposing clear and direct penalties 
on those who cheat or break the law is vital to ensuring that there is a level playing 
field around the globe. The rules of international trade are just that—rules, not sug-
gestions. The time is long overdue for the U.S. to enforce our trade laws and hold 
our trading partners accountable for their unfair trading practices. It is time to 
stand up for American workers and American manufacturers. Americans should ex-
pect—and deserve—nothing less. 
Our National and Economic Security Depend on a Strong Manufacturing Base 

Manufacturing has been the engine that drives the American economy for more 
than a hundred years, and it will continue to be well into the 21st century. Amer-
ica’s future growth, security and leadership in the global economy will depend on 
the strength and viability of our manufacturing base. 

Manufacturing in the United States generates about $1.4 trillion, or 12 percent 
of our gross domestic product. Manufacturing is responsible for nearly two-thirds of 
private sector research and development in the United States. Over the past two 
decades, manufacturing productivity has increased at twice the rate of the rest of 
the private sector. 

Manufacturing directly employs 14 million America and supports eight million 
more. Each manufacturing job supports as many as four other jobs, providing a 
boost to local economies. For example, every 100 steel or every 100 auto jobs create 
as many as 700 new jobs in the rest of the economy. This contrasts with the retail 
sector, where every 100 jobs generate 94 new jobs elsewhere, and the personal and 
service sectors, where 100 jobs create 147 new jobs. This multiplier effect reflects 
how manufacturing’s linkages run deep into the economy, providing the means that 
translate improvements in manufacturing productivity to the economy as a whole. 

Manufacturing is a vital part of the economies of most states. As a share of gross 
state product (GSP), in 2001 manufacturing was among the three largest private-
industry sectors in all but 10 states and the District of Columbia. Manufacturing 
is the largest sector in ten states and in the Midwest region as a whole. It is the 
second largest in nine states and the third largest in 21 others. 

But the extraordinary pressures of unfair trade practices, rising health care and 
energy costs, and illegal foreign currency manipulation have conspired to plunge 
manufacturing into deep crisis. Unless Congress and the Administration respond to 
these issues now, we may not be able to count on having a strong manufacturing 
base in the future. 

We depend on domestic manufacturing to supply our advanced materials for 
equipment like the Joint Strike Fighter, the Bradley Fighting Vehicle, the Abrams 
Tank, and our naval fleet. If we continue to lose our manufacturing base, our na-
tion’s military could lose its primary source of strategic resources, and we as a na-
tion would become dangerously dependent upon foreign sources of supply. 

The Congress and the American people have become all too aware of the limita-
tions that dependency on foreign sources of energy creates for foreign policy and na-
tional security purposes; it makes no sense to exacerbate that problem by depending 
on China and other nations to supply our critical defense needs. Just as our nation 
is seeking to achieve energy independence from the Middle East, we should also 
avoid becoming more dependent on others to supply our national and homeland de-
fense. 

AAM believes that America’s leadership in the information age does not mean 
that we have to accept defeat when it comes to manufacturing. On the contrary, the 
nation that has the ideas and innovation, as well as cutting-edge technology and 
manufacturing, is the nation that will win the global economic battles of the future. 
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That is why we look forward to working with you to ensure that we put into place 
policies that will allow manufacturing to thrive well into the 21st Century. 

As Federal Reserve Chairman Ben Bernanke stated on Feb. 28, 2007, ‘‘I would 
say that our economy needs machines and new factories and new buildings and so 
forth in order for us to have a strong and growing economy.’’

Contrary to popular misconceptions, the industrial age is not over. In fact, just 
the opposite is true. From nanotechnology, and robotics, to lasers and biotechnology, 
we are on the cusp of incredible advances in manufacturing. America must be the 
nation that leads the world into the next stages of development. Manufacturing is, 
and will continue to be, an integral part of the ‘‘new economy.’’ With manufacturing, 
the new economy will thrive. Without manufacturing, much of this new economy 
would not even exist. 

Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee, thank you again for the oppor-
tunity to testify today. I am happy to answer any questions you may have.

Mr. SCOTT [presiding]. Thank you very much, Mr. Paul. It was 
very, very illuminating, and we thank you, and thank you Ms. Lee. 
Next we have Ms. Yvette Pena Lopes from the International Broth-
erhood of Teamsters, our good friends. Ms. Pena Lopes represents 
the Teamsters’ 1.4 million members on issues related to trade, im-
migration and Social Security, in addition to serving on the Board 
of Directors for the Citizens Trade Campaign. Welcome, Ms. Lopes. 

STATEMENT OF MS. YVETTE PENA LOPES, LEGISLATIVE REP-
RESENTATIVE, INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF TEAM-
STERS 

Ms. LOPES. Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members 
of the subcommittee. Thank you for inviting me to testify today on 
behalf of the 1.4 million union members of the International Broth-
erhood of Teamsters. The issue of trade and how it impacts work-
ers and our national security has always been a top priority for the 
Teamsters union under the leadership of General President Hoffa. 
We commend the subcommittee for holding this important hearing. 

Ideally trade and globalization policies should be used as a tool 
to advance the priorities of the American people, the worker, Amer-
ican foreign policy and our national security interests. In reality, 
U.S. trade policies have not achieved this. In fact, our trade policies 
have achieved the opposite effect in all areas, and instead of stop-
ping, rethinking and trying a different direction, this administra-
tion has continued to just push forward more of the same, pushing 
U.S. workers closer and closer off a cliff. 

The U.S. trade deficit hit $764 billion in 2006. We have lost more 
than 3 million manufacturing jobs since 2000. If this trend con-
tinues, we will be completely dependent on other countries to pro-
vide everything to us. Our manufacturing loss is a matter of na-
tional security. 

Since 1980, labor productivity has increased over 80 percent, and 
yet the average American worker is making only a nickel more per 
hour in inflation adjusted terms than in 1973, the year before 
Nixon first used fast track authority. Actually that was the year 
Nixon invented fast track. 

Better trade policies can do better for America’s workers than a 
nickel more per hour. Were it not for trade agreements that pit 
U.S. workers in a race to the bottom with poverty wage workers 
worldwide, U.S. workers’ wages would better reflect productivity 
increases, and workers in developing countries would be better 
equipped to fight for higher wages. 
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I would like to briefly discuss the direct impact NAFTA has had 
on the United States-Mexican workers. We face a growing trade 
deficit with Mexico and Canada, and more than 1 million United 
States jobs have been lost as a direct result of NAFTA. Mexico saw 
a rise of its low-wage microdelo industries which are actually now 
moving to China in search of even lower wages. The agricultural 
sector in Mexico was devastated under NAFTA. Millions of Mexi-
can workers and their families feel forced to risk their lives across 
the border to find work here in the United States because they can-
not make a living at home despite the promises of NAFTA. 

Every single immigration letter proposal that the Teamsters 
have put forward on immigration has always laid out the impor-
tance of addressing our globalization policies because the issue of 
immigration will not really fully be addressed until we do so. For 
the Teamsters, NAFTA has also meant fighting to ensure that un-
safe trucks are not able to enter the country from Mexico. This 
issue has demonstrated firsthand for the Teamsters that these 
FTAs not only impact our workers through the off-shoring of jobs 
but also by threatening U.S. domestic regulation and giving our 
trading partners rights to our infrastructure and to jobs that would 
not have existed otherwise. 

Teamsters are not against trade. We are often called protection-
ists, isolationists, all the names that have been used today. We are 
for trade but not the trade that has been done thus far. The fact 
is that we need an entirely new set of rules. With respect to the 
labor chapter, we need rules that link market access to strength-
ening protection for workers as laid out in the core ILO standards. 
Core ILO standards must be met and must be enforceable. 

The labor chapter must also be subject to the same binding dis-
pute settlement enforcement mechanisms as commercial provisions. 
No government should gain a comparative advantage in global 
markets by keeping labor costs down by violating its own workers 
human rights. This is not how the U.S., the greatest country in the 
world, should promote trade, on the backs of exploited workers. 

Also our union brothers and sisters are being killed and nothing 
is being done about it, except for negotiating and signing FTAs 
with the countries that allow this to happen. One of our own, 
Gilberto Soto, was killed in El Salvador, on November 5, 2005, 
while on assignment for the Teamsters to build a network of Cen-
tral American port workers. The El Salvadoran Government never 
conducted an objective investigation of the murder and continues 
to obstruct the work of the country’s human rights omnibudsman, 
Dr. Beatrice de Carrillo, who has been investigating the assassina-
tion and cover up of Soto’s death. 

Gilberto Soto’s death was before CAFTA, and so there are some 
who argue that CAFTA will make the labor right situation in the 
CAFTA countries better. So far this has not been the case. Just 
this year Pedro Samora, who was the head of the port workers 
union in Guatemala, was killed when gunmen shot him 20 times, 
and now USTR wants to consider an FTA with Colombia. Colombia 
leads the world in the assassination of trade unionists, as Ms. Lee 
has spoken about already. 

While most of the discussions on the FTAs have been centered 
on the labor chapter, it is critical that other sections of the FTAs 



54

be negotiated and addressed as well. We must ensure that inter-
national environment commitments are reaffirmed and protected in 
trade rules. Our trade policies must also stop requiring privatiza-
tion or deregulation as a condition of market access. 

It is also interesting to note that under the Peru FTA Peru is ac-
tually being forced to open its Social Security system to private for-
profit corporations, something that we are not even willing to do 
here. Our trade policies should not prevent developing countries 
from addressing public access to essential medicines, and they do. 
Our trade policies should not have procurement provisions that un-
dermine the ability of Federal and State governments to use tax 
dollars to create and maintain good jobs, and they do. 

The investment chapter is also of great concern to us and needs 
to be fixed. Our ports are even being threatened under these FTAs, 
and making matters even more interesting and of concern to us is 
the fact that Dubai Ports World already operates in Peru, therefore 
giving them immediate standing if they wanted to sue us under the 
investment chapter. 

Now looking beyond the FTAs, I cannot ignore China, which is 
the global economic powerhouse that is setting the global norm for 
working standards around the world is a focal point for many of 
the economic insecurities that people feel about globalization. So 
Congress must address the issue of unfair trade with China, and 
a good starting point would be to pass Hunter-Ryan. 

During the last several years, WTO negotiations have been oc-
curring. These negotiations have been called the Doha Develop-
ment Round. While the notion of development sounds good, the re-
ality is that the direction in which these negotiations have so far 
gone will not achieve development but instead further undermine 
workers’ rights, regulations and democracy. Unless these negotia-
tions take a completely different approach, they have failed and 
must not be supported. 

There has been discussion by some that fast track should be ex-
tended if there is a deal in Doha and to give Doha and opportunity 
for there to be a deal. I would argue just the opposite. Fast track 
should not be extended at all, especially not for the anti-worker 
and anti-development Doha negotiations. With respect to fast 
track, as all of you know, it will expire June 30 of this year. The 
Teamsters strongly oppose the renewal of fast track. We also op-
pose the idea of making a few changes to fix fast track in order to 
fix a fundamentally flawed idea. 

As I have stated throughout my testimony a new model is need-
ed, not a model that has been tweaked or edited, and so fast track 
must be retired, and when the time is right an alternative and fair 
model should be put in place, changed to win together with the 
AFL–CIO and others have been working on an agreement of that 
kind of a replacement model that we believe would benefit all 
workers. 

And so with the discussions that took place just yesterday re-
garding an overall new outlook on the trade agenda, we are encour-
aged that real reform will happen. While a step has been made in 
the right direction, it remains to be seen if it is a real reform and 
change that U.S. workers need in light of the fact that some as-
pects of these flawed FTAs appear not to be addressed. 
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It is critical to do this right. We will be taking a closer look at 
the proposals that have been put forward, and look forward to 
working with you to ensure that all workers are uplifted. Thank 
you. 

[The prepared statement of Ms. Lopes follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF MS. YVETTE PENA LOPES, LEGISLATIVE REPRESENTATIVE, 
INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF TEAMSTERS 

Chairman Sherman, Ranking Member Royce, and Members of the Subcommittee, 
thank you for inviting me to testify today on behalf of the 1.4 million union mem-
bers of the International Brotherhood of Teamsters on this important topic. The 
issue of trade and how it impacts workers and our national security has always 
been a top priority for the Teamsters Union under the leadership of General Presi-
dent Hoffa. I hope that the Administration and all of your colleagues take seriously 
what has been highlighted today, because U.S. workers, in fact, all workers, are 
being negatively impacted by our trade policies. So much is being threatened and 
very little is being done. 

Ideally, trade and globalization policies should be used as a tool to advance the 
priorities of the American people, the worker, and American foreign policy and na-
tional security interests. In reality, U.S. trade policies have not achieved this; in 
fact, our trade policies have achieved the opposite effect in all areas. And instead 
of stopping, rethinking, and trying a different direction, this Administration con-
tinues to just push forward more of the same—pushing U.S. workers closer and clos-
er off a cliff. The Teamsters are hopeful that with your leadership, and the Leader-
ship of this new Congress, the status quo will change. 

EFFECTS OF AN UNEVEN TRADING RELATIONSHIP ON THE AMERICAN WORKFORCE 

The United States trade deficit hit $764 billion in 2006. We have lost more than 
3 million manufacturing jobs since 2000. One in six manufacturing jobs has dis-
appeared. This poses a serious threat, not just to the many families and commu-
nities who have been crushed as a result of this loss, but also our research and de-
velopment capacity as a country. We are losing our capability to supply our military 
troops with uniforms, ammunition, and other essential items. If this trend con-
tinues, we will be completely dependent on other countries to provide everything to 
us. Our manufacturing loss is, in fact, a matter of national security. 

It is not just manufacturing jobs that are being lost, but service jobs as well. The 
Progressive Policy Institute found that 12 million information-based U.S. jobs are 
highly susceptible to off-shoring. Independent academic studies have projected a 
much higher number. 

Foreign ownership of U.S. debt has reached more than $3 trillion, a dangerous 
level that is another potential threat to our national security. Great Britain, China, 
Korea, Japan hold the largest share of our debt; China alone holds $353.6 billion 
of U.S. Treasury securities. Conceivably, they could cash out anytime and leave us 
in a financial crisis. 

American workers are the most productive in the world. Since 1980, labor produc-
tivity has increased over 80 percent, but the real median wage has increased only 
2 percent over a quarter century. The average American worker is making only a 
nickel more per hour in inflation-adjusted terms than in 1973, the year before Nixon 
first used Fast Track to grab Congress’ constitutional trade authority. Better trade 
policies can do better for America’s workers than a nickel more per hour. Were it 
not for trade agreements that pit U.S. workers in a race to the bottom with poverty-
wage workers worldwide, U.S. workers’ wages would better reflect productivity in-
creases. And workers in developing countries would be better equipped to fight for 
higher wages. 

Today, America has the most unequal distribution of income and wealth of any 
developed country in the world. Income and wealth are more unequally distributed 
in America today than at any time since the 1920s. CEO’s on the other hand are 
doing quite well. The average CEO of a major American corporation earned twenty 
times that of an average worker in 1980, today the average CEO earns 431 times 
what the average worker earns. 

There are some who like to argue that U.S. workers win when imports increase 
because when goods are produced by low-paid exploited workers overseas, they are 
cheaper for all of us. Yet, the Center for Economic and Policy Research applied the 
actual data to the trade theory. 

The center discovered that when you compare the lower prices of cheaper goods 
to the income lost from low-wage competition, U.S. workers without college de-
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grees—the vast majority of US workers—lost an amount equal to 12.2 percent of 
their current wages. That is to say, under our current policy, the losses in wages 
from trade outweigh the gains in cheaper prices from trade. For a worker earning 
$25,000 a year, this loss would be slightly more than $3,000 per year. 

NAFTA HAS FAILED WORKERS 

I would also like to discuss the direct impact the North American Free Trade 
Agreement (NAFTA) has had on U.S. and Mexican workers. In 1994, when NAFTA 
was passed, we were promised that it would generate large numbers of net new 
jobs. We were told that not only would this happen, but Mexico would also benefit 
greatly and see a rise in their middle-class. Just like during the CAFTA debate and 
the Oman FTA debate, Labor was called isolationists, protectionists and nativists 
because of our strong opposition to NAFTA and these other agreements. 

I wish we could say that our worst fears were wrong, but in fact, everything we 
feared came to fruition. Instead of the promised nirvana, we face a growing trade 
deficit with Mexico and Canada that has displaced production that supported rough-
ly 660,000 manufacturing jobs and one million total U.S. jobs. The one million jobs 
displaced by NAFTA would have paid $800 per week or more in 2004. 

NAFTA has not fared well for Mexico either. Mexico saw a rise of its low-wage 
maquiladora industries, which are actually now moving to China in search of even 
lower wages. The agricultural sector in Mexico was devastated under NAFTA, leav-
ing Mexican small farmers unable to provide a living for their families. How can 
we expect these farmers to compete with U.S. subsidies and call that fair or even 
free trade? 

Millions of Mexican workers and their families feel forced to risk their lives to 
cross the border to find work here in the U.S. because they cannot make a living 
at home, despite the promises of NAFTA. Like the U.S., wages in Mexico have not 
increased as promised either. In fact, according to the Economic Policy Institute’s 
Revisiting NAFTA, average household labor income in 2004 was 15 percent lower 
than incomes in 1994. 

And yet, as FTAs continue to be considered by Congress, the argument continues 
to be made that life will get better, that labor laws and their enforcement will be 
improved, wages will increase and the desperation of workers from these countries 
trying to immigrate here will cease. We are still waiting and I think we will forever 
be waiting unless we change the model and maybe even redoing what has been 
done. We hear Teamster members often ask, ‘‘Can’t Congress just make NAFTA go 
away?’’

For the Teamsters, NAFTA has also meant fighting to ensure that unsafe trucks 
are not able to enter the country from Mexico. General President Hoffa has led the 
Teamsters in this fight, and so far, we have been successful in ensuring that unsafe 
trucks do not enter the U.S. This issue has demonstrated first hand for the Team-
sters that these FTAs not only impact our workers thru the off-shoring of jobs, but 
also by threatening U.S. domestic regulation and giving our trading partners rights 
to our infrastructure and to jobs that would not have existed otherwise. 

NAFTA included a requirement that all three countries’ highways be fully acces-
sible to trucking companies based in any NAFTA nation, an item championed by 
large U.S. trucking firms seeking lower-waged Mexican drivers. Just recently the 
Administration announced a pilot program to allow Mexico-domiciled trucks broad 
access to the U.S. highway system. This action is reminiscent of the Dubai Port de-
bacle, where the Bush Administration is willing to risk our national security by giv-
ing unfettered access to America’s transportation infrastructure to foreign compa-
nies and their government sponsors while ignoring the safety and security of the 
American people. 

This recent announcement is the latest in a 12-year-long NAFTA fight. A NAFTA 
tribunal ordered the United States to allow Mexican-domiciled trucks to enter the 
United States, and Mexico is threatening trade sanctions if the United States fails 
to comply. It is because of NAFTA that this issue continues to resurrect itself even 
though the House voted in 2001 to effectively ban Mexican trucks from traveling 
beyond the currently permitted commercial zones. The Senate then followed that ac-
tion by passing comprehensive safety guidelines, commonly referred to as the Mur-
ray-Shelby provisions that prevented the DOT from expending money to review ap-
plications of Mexican carriers until certain conditions were met. At this time these 
conditions have still not been met. 

NAFTA has also meant more threats to workers trying to organize in the U.S. 
It has been appalling to see workers who want to organize, but are afraid to because 
of the looming threat that the company will move to Mexico or China where workers 
are paid less and labor laws are more lax. That is what NAFTA has done to our 
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workers. That is what China PNTR has done to our workers—increased their em-
ployer’s control and threat over them—increased their job insecurities. And these 
are not just Teamster stories, or U.S. union stories, but stories that happen every-
day around the globe. 

TIME FOR A NEW MODEL BECAUSE THE CURRENT TRADE MODEL HAS HURT WORKERS 

Beginning with the Labor Chapter 
Because we have spent years opposing these disastrous trade deals, from NAFTA 

to China PNTR, to Free Trade Area of the Americas (FTAA), to Fast Track, to 
CAFTA and Oman FTA, there is an impression out there that we are against all 
trade. It is not that we are against ‘‘trade,’’ we are against the current trade model 
and the current Fast Track process that is used to formulate our trade policies. 

These policies are killing U.S. jobs, and not doing much good for foreign workers. 
They have fueled a race-to-the-bottom that must now end. Instead of scrapping the 
old model and trying a new one, we continue to see a ‘‘one-size-fits-all’’ model that 
fails to uplift workers and bring about trade and social justice. The U.S.-Peru FTA, 
which is currently being renegotiated, is just like CAFTA, the Oman FTA, and the 
Colombia FTA. If you take CAFTA, and just add ‘‘Peru,’’ you virtually have the 
same agreement. 

The fact is that we need an entirely new set of rules that link market access to 
strengthening protection for workers as laid out in the International Labor Organi-
zation’s (ILO) 1998 Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work: the 
freedom of association and the right to organize and bargain collectively, and prohi-
bitions on child labor, forced labor, and discrimination in employment. Each of these 
must be made enforceable requirements. Currently, even though meeting the Core 
ILO standards is not enforceable in the FTAs, USTR has actually left out ‘‘discrimi-
nation in employment’’ when listing the ILO standards. This was done in the Trade 
Promotion Authority process, which is outrageous in and of itself. 

The labor chapter must also be subject to the same binding dispute settlement 
and enforcement mechanisms as commercial provisions. No government should gain 
a comparative advantage in global markets by keeping labor costs down by violating 
its own workers’ human rights. It is time to end this current climate of allowing 
companies to profit by taking advantage of vulnerable workers in one country to 
produce goods to sell to a more wealthy consumer in another country. This is not 
how the U.S., the greatest country in the world should promote trade-on the backs 
of exploited workers. 

It is appalling to the Teamsters Union that the USTR continues to not only use 
this same failed NAFTA/Fast Track model in country after country, but it is also 
disconcerting to us who we are entering FTAs with. Our union brothers and sisters 
are being killed and nothing is being done about it except for negotiating and sign-
ing FTAs with the countries that allow this to happen. 

As members of the Committee most likely know, one of our own-Gilberto Soto, 
was killed in El Salvador on November 5, 2004 while on assignment for the Team-
sters to build a network of Central American Port workers. The Salvadoran govern-
ment never conducted an objective investigation of the murder and continues to ob-
struct the work of the country’s Human Rights Ombudsman, Dr. Beatrice de 
Carrillo, who has been investigating the assassination and cover up of Soto’s death. 

Dr. Carrillo has received death threats for examining Soto’s killing and other 
human rights violations in El Salvador. The Teamsters are presenting her with a 
Human Rights award in the end of April for all of the work she has done—not only 
on the Soto case, but for human rights and workers rights in El Salvador. 

Gilberto Soto’s death was before CAFTA, and so there were some who argued that 
CAFTA will make the labor rights situation in CAFTA countries better. So far, this 
has not been the case. 

The Central American countries vowed to strengthen worker rights as they at-
tempted to get votes for passage of CAFTA. According to diplomats, labor inspectors, 
workers and managers there has been little, if any, progress. Just this year, Pedro 
Zamora, who was the head of the port workers union in Guatemala, was killed when 
gunmen shot him twenty times. Zamora was in the midst of contentious negotia-
tions with management. 

For the record, I have submitted a Washington Post article dated March 16, 2007 
titled Labor Rights in Guatemala Aided Little by Trade Deal. The article spoke of 
Zamora’s murder, and also the current labor, human rights, and trade climate in 
Guatemala. There are many examples and quotes throughout the article that make 
clear that for many corporations and for Guatemala, good labor laws and the en-
forcement of them hinder their competitiveness with China and other countries. It 
is only by killing trade unionist and locking workers into factories and not paying 
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them overtime, that companies can compete. This race must end, and our govern-
ment and multinational companies’ contribution to it must also end. 

As members of the Committee are well aware, we have been especially concerned 
with USTR’s willingness to enter into an FTA with Colombia. Colombia leads the 
world in the assassination of trade unionists. According to the Esceula Nacional 
Sindical (ENS), highly regarded labor institutes based in Medellin, Colombia, 2,262 
union officers and rank-and-file members have been murdered since 1991. In 2006, 
72 trade unionists were gunned down. This is an average more than one killing a 
week. It is an outrage that USTR would even think that the Congress would sup-
port an FTA with a country that allows the killing of trade unionists. No FTA with 
Colombia should be considered until the union killings stop and until Colombia 
brings its laws into conformity with ILO recommendations. 

The U.S. is also in process of negotiating an FTA with South Korea, the seventh 
largest economy in the world. Many key issues remain unresolved, such as auto-
motive trade, intellectual property, and agriculture. The labor chapter currently is 
the same rubber stamp labor chapter used in the other FTAs. There has not been 
much public discourse on the labor situation in Korea. The Change to Win and the 
AFLCIO Labor Federations have been working in solidarity with our union brothers 
and sisters in Korea throughout the FTA negotiations in an effort to highlight these 
serious problems, and our concerns with the direction of the negotiations. 

The labor situation in Korea has been worsening during the last couple of years, 
rather than improving. Last year the government unjustly shut down the offices of 
the Korean Government Employees Union. Dozens of trade unionists are now serv-
ing time behind bars for the legitimate exercise of trade union rights, including the 
organization of strikes and demonstrations. Some of the sentences are quite severe 
lasting for years. Irregular workers, which are similar to independent contractors 
and temporary workers, are now becoming the norm in Korea. They are not able 
to exercise their fundamental labor rights, including the right to organize, and earn, 
on average, 50 percent less than regular workers. This situation has left our union 
brothers and sisters in Korea concerned with the future of Korea’s workforce, espe-
cially if a race-to-the-bottom type FTA is implemented with the U.S. 
Moving Beyond the Labor Chapter 

While most of the problems with the FTAs have centered on the labor chapter, 
it is critical that other sections of the FTAs be renegotiated and addressed as well. 
A better balance must occur between domestic rule-making and international obliga-
tions. We need to ensure that trade rules do not threaten a government’s ability to 
provide affordable and high-quality public service or important labor, environ-
mental, consumer safety, and public health regulations. 

We must ensure that international environmental commitments under multilat-
eral environmental agreements are reaffirmed and protected in trade rules. 

Our trade policies must also stop requiring privatization or deregulation as a con-
dition of market access. The privatization and deregulation of essential services 
such as water, healthcare, and education must end. This makes it virtually impos-
sible for many workers, especially women and the poor in developing countries, to 
ensure their families are provided with adequate health care, education, and basic 
services. 

It is also interesting to recognize that under the Peru FTA, Peru is forced to open 
its Social Security system to private for-profit competition. This is something that 
the President has wanted to do here in the U.S., but Congress won’t let him, yet 
it is being done under the Peru FTA to Peru, and nothing is being done to address 
this. 

Our trade policies should not prevent developing countries from addressing the 
horrors of the HIV/AIDS epidemic through public access to essential medicines. The 
FTAs intellectual property provisions, restrict access to life-saving medicines, 
through unnecessarily long patents and data-protection provisions. According to 
Doctors without Borders, after the first five years of the trade deal, between 700,000 
to 900,000 Peruvians are expected to be excluded from receiving medicines. How can 
USTR and Congress allow this to happen? 

Our trade policies should not have procurement provisions that undermine the 
ability of federal and state governments to use tax dollars to create and maintain 
good jobs, and to promote economic opportunity and balance. If the procurement 
chapter is not adequately or correctly fixed, our Buy-America laws, anti-offshoring 
directives, anti-sweatshop procurement rules can potentially be threatened. 

The Investment chapter is also of great concern and needs to be fixed. Unfortu-
nately, special investor privileges are given to firms that relocate production to low-
wage nations. Goods are then guaranteed tax-free access back into the United 
States for sale. These rules provide special treatment—better than our laws give 
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U.S. firms and citizens to foreign companies operating here and provide the same 
special treatment if a U.S. firm goes someplace else. This means U.S. companies 
leave and the foreign firms gain the right to directly attack U.S. labor, worker safe-
ty, zoning and other laws in foreign trade tribunals and demand payment of our 
tax dollars if their special privileges have been limited. 

Our ports are also being threatened under the investment chapter. There is abso-
lutely no reason why our FTAs should provide the right for foreign port service pro-
viders to demand compensation if they are denied the right to acquire U.S. port op-
erations. This language was of issue in the Oman FTA, and is also an issue within 
the Peru FTA. Making matters worse, and even more ironic is the fact that Dubai 
Ports World already operates in Peru. This gives the company immediate ‘‘right of 
establishment’’ to operate U.S. ports or take us before an international tribunal. It 
is critical that an exception be made in the investment chapter to ensure that the 
question of port ownership and control is not an investor right under these FTAs. 

LOOKING BEYOND THE FTAS 

China Trade—The Big Elephant in the Room 
China is a global economic powerhouse that is setting the global norm for working 

standards around the world. It is the focal point for many of the economic insecu-
rities that people feel about globalization. 

Over the past twenty years the U.S. trade deficit with China has increased from 
$5 billion to more than $230 billion. What this means is that 5 out of 6 ships that 
come to our docks from China filled with items manufactured there instead of here, 
return to China empty. 

If Congress wants to take real action on China, then it should pass comprehensive 
legislation that does the following: end China’s currency manipulation; allow U.S. 
companies to challenge subsidized imports from China; fix China safeguard statute 
and other import relief remedies to protect U.S. manufacturers against surges and 
unfair imports from China; and, reinstate Super 301 of U.S. trade law. Such actions 
will truly combat China’s unfair trade practices by providing us with the tools nec-
essary to take action against China and in support of U.S. jobs. 

It is also important that we support the labor law reforms that Chinese workers 
are demanding. When China moved forward in attempting to pass a few labor re-
forms, some U.S. companies waged an intense lobbying campaign to defeat the law 
through the American Chamber of Commerce in Shanghai. Some have even threat-
ened to leave China and go to Vietnam if such labor reforms are implemented. 

This opposition by U.S. multinationals to oppose and stop labor law reform in 
China reinforces what the Teamsters have always said—China PNTR has nothing 
to do with access for our U.S. businesses to sell goods to China, and everything to 
do with the exploitation of workers in a country with weak labor laws. 
The World Trade Organization Doha ‘‘Development’’ Round Will Only Exacerbate the 

Current Globalization Crisis 
During the last several years, there has been World Trade Organization (WTO) 

negotiations occurring. These negotiations have been cynically called the Doha ‘‘De-
velopment’’ Round. While the notion of ‘‘development’’ sounds good, the reality is 
that the direction in which these negotiations have so far gone will not achieve ‘‘de-
velopment,’’ but instead further undermine worker’s rights, regulations, and democ-
racy. 

While the WTO has been in place, the percentage of people living on less than 
$1 a day, which is the World Bank definition of extreme poverty, has increased. 
More recent World Bank studies found that Doha would yield $16 billion for devel-
oping countries and $96 billion to the world by 2015. This means that the devel-
oping country share of Doha gains would be only about 16 percent. This means that 
less than one cent per person per day would go to the developing world, or about 
4 cents per person per day to the world as a whole. The research also revealed that 
50 percent of the limited gains for developing countries would only go to eight coun-
tries: Argentina, Brazil, China, India, Mexico, Thailand, Turkey, and Vietnam, while 
the Middle East, Bangladesh, and much of Africa would face net losses. 

The discussions have even failed to put worker’s rights on the table. The WTO 
refused to include the concerns of working families in the discussions; that alone 
means that these rounds have failed. While worker’s rights are not being consid-
ered, what is are our immigration laws, our trade remedy laws, our public services, 
and our manufacturing sector is under attack. We also have not been very success-
ful in winning cases brought under the non-transparent WTO; in fact we have faced 
loss after loss when safeguarding U.S. interests under the WTO. (The U.S. loses 9-
in-10 challenges under the WTO.) 
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Very little attention has been paid to these negotiations. However, unless these 
negotiations take a completely different approach, they have failed and must not be 
supported. There has been discussion by some that Fast Track should be extended 
if there is a deal on Doha. I would argue just the opposite. Fast Track should not 
be extended at all, especially not for the anti-worker and anti-development Doha ne-
gotiations. 

Fast Track is the Wrong Track 
‘‘Fast Track’’ is the process that gives the Executive Branch the authority to nego-

tiate and write trade agreements and strips away Congress’ constitutional power to 
set the terms of U.S. trade policy. The idea was created under President Nixon in 
1974. 

Under Fast Track, the president is authorized to negotiate trade agreements with 
foreign countries with very little consultation with Congress or state legislators. 
Fast Track creates special rules for considering trade agreements by allowing the 
Executive Branch to sign an agreement before Congress votes on it, while only giv-
ing Congress 90 days to consider the agreement. In fact, Fast Track ensures that 
Congress’ role is performed too late to do any good since your vote happens after 
the agreement has been signed. 

There is a misconception that Fast Track must be extended or all trade will end. 
Trade happened before 1974 when Fast Track was first created, and has continued 
during times when Fast Track expired. The Jordan FTA, while not perfect, was still 
the best FTA negotiated thus far with respect to the labor chapter. Jordan was ne-
gotiated and passed without Fast Track authority. 

Fast Track will expire on June 30th of this year. It is because of the expiration 
of Fast Track that there is such urgency to renegotiate the Peru FTA and hastily 
finish the Korea FTA negotiations by March 31st. The Fast Track clock is ticking 
and USTR and Congress are being rushed. Congress should not be rushed! These 
discussions will impact millions of workers and livelihoods, and should not be done 
in a hurry just because of the ticking ‘‘Fast Track clock.’’

The Teamsters strongly oppose the renewal of Fast Track. We also oppose the 
idea of making a few changes to Fast Track in order to ‘‘fix’’ a fundamentally flawed 
idea. As I have stated throughout my testimony, a new model is needed, not a model 
that has been tweaked or edited, and so Fast Track must be retired and an alter-
native and fair model should be put in place. 

We have been working with Change to Win, the AFLCIO, environmental organi-
zations, Public Citizen, and the Citizens Trade Campaign on this new alternative 
for several months now. 

Earlier this month, Change to Win passed a resolution on Fast Track. The Resolu-
tion opposed Fast Track and laid out a fair trade process that:

• Restores balance between Congress and the Executive Branch with respect to 
trade negotiations, consistent with the intent of the U.S. Constitution, to en-
sure that trade agreements meet the interests of U.S. workers, firms and 
farmers while promoting global growth, economic stability and environmental 
protection;

• Restores Congress’ right to decide with which countries it is in our national 
interest to negotiate new trade agreements by establishing readiness criteria 
that prospective negotiation partners must meet;

• Requires mandatory, binding negotiating objectives in trade agreements: Re-
quiring that countries maintain and enforce core International Labor Organi-
zation (ILO) standards and core Multilateral Environmental Agreement 
(MEA) requirements, and that these standards are enforced equally with com-
mercial provisions; and

• Specifying what cannot be in any trade agreements, such as procurement 
rules that undermine anti-offshoring and prevailing wage policies, special 
rights for foreign investors, including operation of critical U.S. infrastructure, 
patent extensions that undermine access to affordable medicine, or mandatory 
privatization or deregulation requirements;

• Requires Congress to vote on a trade agreement before it can be signed to 
ensure that congressional objectives have been met;

• Enhances congressional participation, review and oversight throughout trade 
negotiations by establishing a new congressional committee review process 
that empowers Congress to determine whether objectives have been met and 
a trade agreement is ready for Congress’ consideration under expedited rules; 
and
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• Requires oversight on the effects of and the operation of past agreements with 
a mechanism to ensure that Congress can hold negotiators accountable to fix 
problems by reopening trade agreements. 

THIS NEW DAY HAS ARRIVED 

It is clear that there is a real crisis for all American workers, under the current 
trade model. It is critical that Congress act now and take control over our trade poli-
cies and ensure that globalization can in fact live up to its promise. Our workers 
deserve and demand this. 

With the discussions that have taken place this week regarding the renegotiation 
of the Peru FTA, of future trade agreements, of China policy, and an overall new 
outlook on the trade agenda, we are encouraged that real reform will happen. While 
a step has been made in the right direction, it remains to be seen if it is the real 
reform and change that U.S. workers need. It is critical to do this right. We will 
be taking a close look at the proposals that are put forward, and we look forward 
to working with you on them. 
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Mr. SHERMAN [presiding]. Thank you, Ms. Lopes, particularly for 
pointing out that basically these free trade agreements have swal-
lowed up and taken away all of the wage gains that otherwise 
would have occurred since leisure suits were cool. That contrary to 
the prior witness, we have not seen middle class families increase 
their net income by $9,000 a year as a result of these wonderful 
free trade agreements but rather that since the days of leisure 
suits, working families have gotten nothing while science and pro-
ductivity has made major strides. 

Ms. Lee, you probably usually do not get questions asking why 
you are so enamored of these free trade agreements, but you do 
represent an organization that has said maybe we should give this 
President fast track if only we put some conditions on it. Does this 
President have a history of following conditions that Congress at-
taches—and following them in good faith—that when Congress 
gives him power but then also attaches some conditions, he obvi-
ously takes the power, does he have a record of following the re-
strictions in good faith? Perhaps you could give me a one-word an-
swer. 

Ms. LEE. No. 
Mr. SHERMAN. And let us say the President did bring us a fast 

track agreement with this or that country, and it cut our tariffs. 
That is going to happen period if we adopt the agreement. But the 
agreement also has various rules about how the country is going 
to have labor standards and how the other country is going to have 
environmental standards. Do we have a good record of enforcing 
those provisions or do we tend to just ignore them? 

Ms. LEE. President George Bush does not have a good record of 
enforcing any of the provisions in our trade agreements, particu-
larly not the worker rights provisions. We have an example right 
now with Jordan, which is the one agreement that has stronger 
labor standards negotiated. We actually have a delegation of union 
presidents who are in Jordan right now, and have been visiting the 
qualified industrial zones, and even though there have been prom-
ises made over a year and a half ago or about a year ago for the 
Jordanian Government to reform its labor laws and improve in-
spection, nothing has happened, and USTR has failed to enforce. 
Can I clarify, Mr. Chairman? 

Mr. SHERMAN. Yes. 
Ms. LEE. We do not think that George W. Bush has earned re-

newal of fast track authority. When we have discussed the ways in 
which the grant of negotiating authority from the Congress to the 
President could be reformed in the future, I think our vision is that 
we would have a President in place who would take these issues 
more seriously and whom we could trust to negotiate them. We 
have put forward a positive, strategic vision of how trade policy 
needs to be done. It may be in the future a couple of years from 
now as opposed to during this President’s tenure. 

Mr. SHERMAN. So we could pass the bill that has all the condi-
tions and requirements but just says no trade agreement can be 
presented to Congress until March 2009, and then we might have 
at least some hope that whatever provisions we put in the statute 
would be adhered to. I look forward hopefully to convincing your 
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organization to oppose any kind of fast track that allows agree-
ments to be presented to us before March 2009. 

Ms. LEE. I think we are probably on the same page on that. 
Mr. SHERMAN. I hope. I did not fear that you would. We are told 

that only an idiot would fail to see the magnificent theoretical ben-
efits of trade agreements and only fools would be distracted by the 
actual results that are up there. We are told that NAFTA must 
have reduced our trade deficit with our immediate neighbors be-
cause at the time it was presented to us the cognizant eye assured 
us that it would. And we are told that only fools and Luddites 
would be distracted by the tenfold increase in our trade deficit that 
has occurred since NAFTA was signed. 

So it leaves me wondering, why are some of the most articulate 
people in the United States so wrong? One reason perhaps is that 
it is the educated classes, the MBA classes, the chattering classes 
that have actually benefitted from these trade agreements but I 
think it goes beyond class self-interest, and it is that the cognizant 
eyes spend their lives learning American law and American busi-
ness. 

They therefore learn that the key to getting access to the only 
market they understand, which is the United States market, is you 
change the laws and regulations and tariffs of the potential import-
ing country, and so they believe that the key to getting access to 
the market say in China is to get China to change its published 
tariffs and its published laws. But in China, written laws are just 
there to distract Americans. 

If you are running a business in China—and I will ask each of 
you to address this—you may be able to give a one-word answer 
to this—let us say you are running a Chinese business, and the 
written tariffs, the written laws of China say that you are allowed 
to buy the American goods, no tariff, but you get a call from some 
midlevel commissar that says, Look, do not buy the American 
goods, buy European goods. And you would ask why, and they 
would say well the Europeans watch their trade balance with 
China very carefully, and if European markets are going to be open 
to us, we have to buy European equipment from time-to-time, and 
in fact we have a basically balanced trading agreement, balanced 
trade situation with Europe, especially Germany because they are 
smart enough to demand this. 

And then you might ask well what about the Americans? Would 
it not help our trade relationship with Americans? I have this great 
American equipment I want to buy, and you would be informed, 
Americans are offended if anyone looks at results. They only look 
at theory, and they have read all our regulations, and they think 
they are wonderfully written in full compliance with all WTO pro-
visions. 

So let us say you really wanted to buy the American equipment, 
but you got this call, and you further were told by the commissar 
that you are sure you would take his advice because you were a 
well-educated businessman or woman, and he was sure that be-
cause you were so well-educated you would not need any re-edu-
cation. If you got that call, would you buy the European goods or 
the American goods? Mr. Paul? 
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Mr. PAUL. Well being patriotic, I would like to say the American 
goods but the reality is that you described the Chinese system per-
fectly. There are built-in incentives not to follow the rules, and the 
expectation that the rules are being followed is a flawed one, and 
it is one that is pervasive in common thought today. We can show 
in industry after industry that the rules have not been enforced 
and it is hurting jobs in this country. China is not living up to its 
obligations. 

Mr. SHERMAN. In this example, you would not be able to show 
anything unless the Attorney General had been able to bug the 
phones in China which so far has eluded him. Ms. Lee? 

Ms. LEE. The paradox that you put forward is exactly right. Why 
does it seem like free trade is understood theoretically as such a 
fabulous thing and yet it does not work out in practice? The exam-
ple that you gave and that Scott Paul answered is a good practical, 
concrete example of what goes wrong, but I would argue that what 
is wrong with out trade policies is that they are not really about 
trade. They are not about opening markets. 

Ambassador Hills talked a lot about how important it is to open 
markets, and I would say she and her subsequent Trade Represent-
atives have been uniquely unsuccessful in opening markets for 
American products. What they have been good at is greasing the 
skids for more jobs to move offshore faster. If you look at American 
trade policy that way, that the goal is not actually to sell more 
stuff to people in other countries, but rather to help our companies 
move jobs around the world and face fewer regulations and restric-
tions they do not like and sell the goods back into the United 
States without any tariff barriers or restrictions, then it is a totally 
successful trade policy. That explains why we do not crack down 
on currency manipulation or illegal subsidies. 

It explains why we do not enforce worker rights and environ-
mental provisions. It explains why we do not get rid of the tax 
breaks in U.S. law that encourage and reward companies for mov-
ing offshore. Everything falls into place if you put it in that light. 

Mr. SHERMAN. My time is about to go here but I will point out 
that I have talked to people. What do other countries give us when 
we give them access to market? What do they really give us? They 
say from the U.S. perspective, this is an investor protection treaty, 
and so what the other country gives us the right to invest in their 
country in factories that will make stuff for the U.S. market which 
will then be shipped here because the MBAs have figured out that 
the way to make money is to make it in a country that pays 50 
cents an hour, and sell it to a country that can still afford to pay 
$50 for a pair of tennis shoes, at least some of its people can. 

With that let me yield to the vice chair of the committee, and I 
know, Ms. Lopes, I am not asking. The next question will be for 
you. 

Mr. SCOTT. Good. First of all, thank you again for coming, and 
all three of your statements have been very, very beneficial. First, 
Ms. Lee, let me get an accurate understanding of the AFL–CIO’s 
position on the fast track because it is clear that there be no mixed 
signals as we move forward. Would an accurate assessment of what 
you are saying that you would be supportive of the President hav-
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ing the authority of fast tracking but you do not support this Presi-
dent of having it? Is that——

Ms. LEE. What we have said is that we would absolutely oppose 
a renewal of the current fast track authority for this or any Presi-
dent, and so it is the rules in the fast track bill that are problem-
atic. You have a second question about what the President has or 
will do with that authority. We have said that the fast track proc-
ess is completely flawed and needs to be replaced no matter who 
is President. 

We do not believe that this has served the Congress well or the 
American people or certainly our members. So we are opposed to 
fast track authority. What we have said and what we are trying 
to do is to lay out our vision of how trade policy could be done bet-
ter and differently in the future. We believe we are in a global 
economy, and we are going to continue to be in a global economy. 
We have to figure out how to write rules for that global economy 
that are good for our members. 

We are not going to stop trading with the rest of the world. We 
think it is perfectly appropriate for us to take a deep breath and 
slow down the forward motion of new trade agreements. That there 
is no particular rush, in our view. These little bilateral trade agree-
ments, as Yvette Pena Lopes said, and the Doha Round, very little 
in those for American workers. So we do not see any compelling 
reason to hurry the fast track debate. 

What we have put forward is our vision of how trade policy could 
be done differently in the future, and we are leaving open where 
that future is. We thought it was useful for the Congress and for 
our members to be as clear as possible about what is wrong with 
current trade policy and how we want to see it done in the future. 

Mr. SCOTT. Okay. Let us talk about the wage stagnation problem 
because that is really central to this discussion this morning. It is 
a pathetic conclusion to come to the fact that in the last almost 
quarter century the average worker has gained a nickel. 

We are in another committee, in Financial Services, and I am co-
sponsoring with the chairman over there, a bill to bring some san-
ity back to CEO pay packages but when you look at that in rela-
tionship to this, with CEOs making 3 and $400 million packages, 
and even with the companies going down, they are not obligated to 
their pension funds. I mean, you know the whole story of that and 
it just enhances it, but I would like to get some clarity on just how 
much each of you feel that our trade policies have had an impact. 
To what degree has our trade policies have an impact on the stag-
nant wage structure we have. 

Ms. LOPES. Thank you, Congressman, for that question. What I 
find most interesting about the wage stagnation is sort of when it’s 
begun. The fact that it was in 1973, 1974 when we started seeing 
sort of this downhill motion happening, and that was exactly the 
time that Nixon came up with fast track authority, and it was sort 
of the beginning of this while trade liberalization that we are see-
ing now. 

So we do believe that there is a correlation in connection with 
this. I mean U.S. workers everywhere they have seen what has 
happened under NAFTA. We have seen NAFTA now for more than 
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12 years, and the great promises of job growth and increase in 
wages in the middle class has not resonated. 

I mean in fact it is sad and of great concern to me and to my 
union to see our middle class sort of kind of dwindle away, and 
America is becoming very similar to some of the other countries in 
the world where we are seeing the richer get richer, the poorer get 
poorer, and we are seeing a lot of our jobs leave, and there is little 
hope I think for workers everywhere and middle class America ev-
erywhere with respect to what possibilities there are in the future 
for them. 

Mr. SCOTT. Okay. Ms. Lee. 
Ms. LEE. Thank you very much. It is an excellent question, and 

I would say a couple of things. One is that there has been a signifi-
cant amount of economic research on the impact of trade liberaliza-
tion and capital mobility on wages. I would say there is actually 
consensus, believe it or not, in the economics profession that some-
where between about 20 and 40 percent of the growth of wage in-
equality can be attributed to trade liberalization and capital mobil-
ity. That is something even the free trade economists, very respect-
able, academic economists have found. 

What they also agree on is that trade is not the only source of 
downward pressure on wages, and we would agree with that. Pro-
ductivity growth and technology have also had a skill bias in the 
wage distribution. So there is no mystery about that, and the ques-
tion is whether trade is the only or the biggest downward impact 
on wages, and it may or may not be the biggest. 

It is certainly not the only, but it is a significant impact on 
wages, and one of the things that is important about that is that 
this is totally consistent with economic theory. That international 
trade theory predicts that a country like the United States, which 
is relatively well endowed with skilled labor, by opening its mar-
kets essentially makes it skilled labor or its unskilled labor, which 
is its scarce factor and so-called unskilled labor, workers who do 
not have a college degree, that is about two-thirds of our work 
force. 

But the predictions of economic theory is that those so-called less 
skilled workers in the United States would see downward pressure 
on their wages when we open up to more trade with countries that 
have a much bigger supply of unskilled labor. So that is a sensible, 
theoretical outcome, and we do see that if trade liberalization in 
fact is putting downward pressure on the bottom two-thirds of the 
American labor force, it is no wonder that it is a politically difficult 
and unpopular policy. Thank you. 

Mr. SCOTT. Thank you. Mr. Paul? 
Mr. PAUL. I will briefly add to what the other witnesses said. I 

think the interesting question is that productivity gains in America 
have been rising consistently throughout the last decade or two. At 
the same time, there has been this wage stagnation. So the ques-
tion comes to the forefront, the link between rising wages and ris-
ing productivity has been broken. Why is that happening? 

I think there are two reasons for that. One is that manufacturers 
in the U.S. are also facing pressures on their other input costs. 
Health care as a percentage of their cost is rising, as is energy, and 
it puts great pressure at the bargaining table. More broadly, what 
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has been identified is the exposure to these labor markets where 
workers are either paid less artificially, or because of the develop-
ment of the country, has an impact, and it is a phenomena called 
labor arbitrage that contributes to this downward pressure on U.S. 
wages. 

And a question that comes into play for foreign policy, these 
trade policies that both put downward pressure on U.S. wages and 
also tend to widen inequality in developing countries: Are they ben-
eficial to U.S. foreign policy goals? And I think that is a real ques-
tion for the committee. 

Mr. SCOTT. Right. 
Mr. PAUL. Thank you. 
Mr. SCOTT. Mr. Chairman, may I just ask one follow-up? China 

really scares me in terms of the future of our own country on many 
levels, but I think the intersection of two real serious economic 
trains here are going to cause a tremendous collision that is going 
to be disastrous for us, one. They have on a yearly basis been run-
ning a $114 billion trade surplus with us. Then you combine the 
fact that they own $362 billion of our debt, and then you combine 
that with the fact that I think that is having a tremendous impact, 
a negative impact on our foreign policy, especially in this evolving 
war on terror. 

When you consider the fact that with all of our efforts of diplo-
macy negotiation particularly in dealing with the Middle East and 
Iran, they are failing to desist from the China, India gas pipeline 
into Iran, and my concern is that is a primary example of how our 
economic and trade policies with China are having a very, very 
devastating impact on our foreign policy. I wonder if you, because 
you had talked about China, if you would comment on that please. 

Mr. SHERMAN. The gentleman’s time has gone onto about double 
so please respond very, very quickly. 

Mr. PAUL. Very quickly, Congressman Scott, it is clear China has 
a policy that is looking 20 years ahead to protect their economy 
and their national security interest. The question is: Do we? 

Mr. SCOTT. No. 
Mr. PAUL. And I think the answer is pretty clear that we do not, 

and in a number of ways China is an economic competitor, and we 
are sticking our heads in the sand. 

Mr. SCOTT. Yes. We have got trouble down the road. Thank you. 
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. SHERMAN. Thank you. We may be interrupted by votes but 
I would like to do a second round here. Staff is overly concerned 
about votes. There are two approaches. Thank you. We stand ad-
journed. 

[Whereupon, at 12:54 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.] 
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